Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

Monday, 10 January 2022
EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on
Tuesday, 18 January 2022
beginning at
7:00 pm
in the
Oak Suite, Holiday Inn, Leigh Rd, Eastleigh SO50 9PG

TO:

Councillor Alex Bourne (Chair)
Councillor Paul Bicknell (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tanya Park
Councillor Tina Campbell
Councillor Daniel Clarke

Staff Contacts:

Councillor Wayne Irish
Councillor Darshan Mann
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne

Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk Please email
Democratic.Services@eastleigh.gov.uk to register to speak
before the meeting.
Guy Riddoch, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 3369; Email:
guy.riddoch@eastleigh.gov.uk
JOANNE CASSAR
Executive Head of Governance

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website
as well as in other formats.
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting,
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed. To register please
contact the Democratic Services Officer above.
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to
access committee papers.

1

AGENDA
1.
2.

Apologies
Declarations of Interest
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the
agenda. Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

3.

Minutes (Pages 5 - 10)
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2021.

4.

Public Participation
Public seating will be limited at this meeting due to the current Government
restrictions. You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following
email: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is
midday on Monday 17 January 2022. Please let us know if you wish to attend the
meeting in person so that we can manage numbers.

5.

Chair's Report

6.

Presentation on Planning Guidelines

7.

Planning Application - Land at Toynbee Road, Eastleigh, SO50 9DN (Pages 11 48)
Construction of 105 dwellings together with access from Toynbee Road,
associated parking, public open space, and landscaping following the demolition
of existing buildings. (F/21/91686)

8.

Planning Application - Land at Villeneuve St Georges Way, Eastleigh, SO50 9SJ
(Pages 49 - 74)
Construction of car dealership (Class Sui Generis), incorporating a workshop,
ancillary offices, associated parking, access, servicing, landscaping, access and
other associated works. (F/21/91786)

9.

Financial Management Report (Pages 75 - 82)

10.

Community Grants (Pages 83 - 90)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 14 March 2022 at 7:00 pm
In the Oak Suite, Holiday Inn, Leigh Rd,
Eastleigh SO50 9PG
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news -

2

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s
happening in the Borough. Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus
lots more.

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
1
EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 16 November 2021 (7:00 pm – 8:00 pm)
PRESENT:
Councillor Bourne (Chair); Councillors Campbell, Bicknell, Irish, Mann and
Tyson-Payne
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Clarke and Doguie
________________________________________
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)
11.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

12.

MINUTES
RESOLVED That the Minutes of the meeting(s) held on 14 September 2021 be
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

13.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
A local resident spoke in respect of the Eastleigh town centre market. He
expressed that markets are an important part of the community and that
he was disappointed that the town centre market has not returned. He
questioned whether there was financial allocation to host markets in
Eastleigh town centre following the creation of the Market Management
Board.
This resident also raised concern in respect of the following matters:
(a) Bins being left in back alleys;
(b) Leaves not being cleaned across two locations; and
(c) The volume of vehicles at Chickenhall Lane.
The Chair was able to respond to the local resident and set out the
following:
(a) The Council is utilising the Covid Recovery Fund to facilitate the
return of the Eastleigh town centre market. Discussions are
ongoing and will continue.
(b) The Chair will follow up in respect of the bin issue.
(c) The Chair stated that leaves are being cleared and the Council has
allocated the sum of five thousand for clearance. The Chair will
revert in respect of the two locations mentioned.

5

2
(d) The Chickenhall Lane issue is a matter for full Council.

14.

CHAIR'S REPORT
The Chair gave the following report:
He had the honour of laying a wreath on Remembrance day on behalf of
this Committee and saw the unveiling of the memorial benches in honour
of the Royal British Legions 100th birthday. Thank you to the Vice Chair
Cllr Paul Bicknell who represented this committee at the service of
remembrance on Sunday.
Eastleigh Christmas Light Switch-On
He was pleased to welcome the return of our fabulous Switch-on
event, between 11.00am - 7.00pm this coming Saturday. It comes with a
difference this time around, as we need to allow for more social distancing,
so we are not holding the parade or fireworks this year. Instead, we are
able to have more fair rides, for longer through the day and evening, and a
new laser light show at 6.00pm to mark the switch-on itself. As usual we
will have the community stalls, a Christmas Market, The Sorting Office
Open Studios, a variety of musical acts and of course Santa's Grotto
(though I'm afraid the appointments with Santa are now sold out). The
performers from Happy's Circus will also be showing off their skills through
the day to promote a new exciting circus event in December.
Happy's circus
As just mentioned, we are again trying something different, as we
welcome Happy's Circus to the Recreation Ground for their Spirit of
Christmas circus and Fun Zone. The shows will be on Fridays, Saturday
and Sundays from the 3 December until the 16 Decemver, when it moves
to seven-days-a-week throughout the rest school holidays, until the 2
January (except Christmas Day itself). Four small children’s s rides will be
available alongside the booking office on the Rec, from 25 November to 2
January to add to the Christmas feel through the day.
North Stoneham Park (NSP) Christmas lights Switch-On
NSP has it very own local Christmas lights switch-on the 3 December,
between 6pm and 8pm. There will be lots of stalls, entertainment and fun
competitions. And for residents of North Stoneham there is also a
competition to see who has the best lit home.
Lawn Road Play Area
After several delays to due Covid and supply chain problems, Greenspan,
our main contractor is now on site and is progressing well. We are now ontrack for opening the improved play area by the 20 December (weatherpermitting of course).
River Itchen bank repairs

6

3
Following three weeks of hard work by our contractors, the breaches in the
Itchen River banks have now been repaired. This should now protect this
beautiful stretch of the navigation footpath and reduce the likelihood of
flooding of the Bishopstoke Recreation Ground.

Stoneham Lane Football Complex
Our new £9m facility is becoming ever more popular and the new venue
has recently passed a significant threshold, with over 40,000 registered
users making use of this amazing facility. I just hope that Hampshire
County Council will hurry up and put in a pedestrian crossing to allow safe
passage to the overflow car park.
Autumn leaf clearance
In a bid to get ahead of issues caused by falling leaves, this Committee set
aside an extra £5,000 each year, which pays for an additional member of
staff to help clear the autumn leaves and prevent the flooding that often
results. If you see any leaf hotspots around the town, do please let us
know by reporting through Council's website.
Market Street Community Garden
Last Saturday around 30 people joined Cllrs Irish and Campbell at the
Community garden project, Men’s shed made a planter and sign which
children painted. Thank you to the Salvation army who provided soup and
a roll which Cllr Irish particularly enjoyed. The next event will be in
December where Christmas decorations will be the order of the day and a
carol service.
15.

PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES
The Senior Planning Officer gave a short presentation on guidelines that
had to be taken into account when determining planning applications; in
particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account. This
was set against the broader policy framework.

16.

PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND AT TOYNBEE ROAD, EASTLEIGH,
SO50 9DN - F/20/89489
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Head of Planning
and Economy (Agenda item 7) concerning an application for the
construction of 105 dwellings together with access from Toynbee Road,
associated parking public open space and landscaping following the
demolition of existing buildings (amended plans). (Ref: F/20/89489).
The Committee received the following updates:


Members were advised of a correction to paragraphs relating to the
consideration of the application of the previous Eastleigh Local Area
Committee. It was confirmed that the relevant date was the 14
September and not the 23 September as suggested in the report.

7

4

RESOLVED –
To advise the Planning Inspectorate that were The Local Planning
Authority to determine the application it would have Permitted the
application subject to the conditions in the committee report in Annex 1 as
well as additional conditions for the matters below:
1. Asbestos Conditions Survey.
2. Noise and Mechanical Ventilation and Heat Recovery
3. Vibration
And agreement of a section 106 agreement to secure:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Transport infrastructure
Community infrastructure projects
New Forest Recreational pressure
Nitrate mitigation
Secondary Education
Public open space/play on and off-site
Public Art
Air Quality monitoring
Affordable housing

A recorded vote was proposed and seconded:
FOR: Councillors Bourne, Bicknell, Mann and Park
AGAINST: Councillors Campbell, Irish and Tyson-Payne
(FOR: 4; AGAINST: 3)
17.

FEES AND CHARGES
Consideration was given to a report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda
item8) that contained recommendations for fees and charges in the area.
RESOLVED –
That the Committee approved:
(1) That the fees and charges set out in the Appendices A-D of
the committee report to come into effect between 1 January
2022 and 1 April 2022, as specified in Appendices A to D of
said report.

8

5
(2)

18.

To keep the charges for car parking unchanged for 2022/23,
in line with the emerging corporate recommendation,
subject to Cabinet approval.

PLANNING APPEALS
The Legal Services Manager reported:
(a)

that the following appeals have been allowed:
9 Selwyn Gardens, Eastleigh, SO50 4PX
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for a 6foot fence around the perimeters of garden.
This was a delegated decision.

RESOLVED That the report be noted.

9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
ELAC – Eastleigh Local Area Committee – 18th January 2022
Application Number:
Case Officer:
Received Date:
Site Address:
Applicant:
Proposal:

F/21/91686
Gary Osmond
08/10/2021
Land at Toynbee Road, Eastleigh, SO50 9DN
Vivid Homes
Construction of 105 dwellings together with access from
Toynbee Road, associated parking, public open space and
landscaping following the demolition of existing buildings.

Preamble:
This application is identical to application F/20/89489, which was submitted in
January 2021 and which was considered at the Eastleigh Local Area Committee on
14th September 2021. At this committee meeting a number of concerns were
expressed and the Committee resolved to defer the application for a decision at a
later meeting pending a number of requested revisions to the scheme. Following this
deferral, the applicants chose to submit an appeal to the Planning Inspectorate on
the grounds of non-determination at the start of October. Whilst this appeal
submission has been acknowledged by the Inspectorate, no start date for the appeal
has yet been received.
As part of the process in a non-determination appeal, the Local Planning Authority
must provide an indication to the Inspectorate as to whether the authority was
minded to approve or refuse the appealed application and why. It was therefore
necessary for the Local Area Committee to provide an indication as to what decision
they would have made had the application not been appealed. As such, the
application was taken back to the Eastleigh Local Area Committee meeting of 16th
November 2021, where the Committee indicated that they would have been minded
to approve the scheme had it not been deferred.
Following submission of the appeal but prior to the November Committee meeting,
the current planning application was submitted (F/21/91686). Whilst not usual
practice, the applicants are allowed to submit a further planning application for the
same scheme to run concurrently with a submitted planning appeal. This allows for
negotiations and work on the scheme to continue and may result in a formal
determination before a decision on the submitted appeal is received from the
Planning Inspectorate, which could take a number of months. It is this second
application on which the following recommendation and report is based.

Recommendation:
Delegate decision to Executive Head of Planning and Economy in consultation with
the Chair, Vice Chair and Ward Councillors to resolve the following:
i) Receipt of outstanding consultation responses and any necessary actions

11

ii)
iii)
iv)
v)

required as a result of comments received;
Acceptable amended plans which respond to urban design, landscape and
ecology comments;
Satisfactory Completion of Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment
including consideration of response from Natural England;
Completion of S106 agreement for terms identified in report; and
The following conditions (with updates as necessary).

Then PERMIT subject to Conditions and Notes.
1. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with
the following plans numbered:
ENC/180520/9JJ6-1, ENC/180520/9JJ6-2, ENC/180520/9JJ6-3, 20.095.01,
20.095.02 Rev H, 20.095.03 Rev A, 20.095.04 Rev A, 20.095.05 Rev B,
20.095.06 Rev B, 20.095.07 Rev A, 20.095.08 Rev A, 20.095.09 Rev B,
20.095.10 Rev D, 20.095.11 Rev C, 20.095.12 Rev C, 20.095.14 Rev B,
20.095.16 Rev C, 20.095.17 Rev C, 20.095.18 Rev C, 20.095.19 Rev C,
20.095.20 Rev B, 20.095.21 Rev B, 20.095.22 Rev A, 20.095.23 Rev A,
20.095.24 Rev C, 20.095.26 Rev A, 20.095.27 Rev A, 20.095.30, 20.095.31,
20.095.32, 20.095.33, 20.095.34, 1597-02 Rev B, T-01 Rev 1 & D1908-PL400
Rev C.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
2. The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from
the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.
3. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a
remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of
the site in respect of the development hereby permitted, has been submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will
include the following components:
a) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: all previous uses;
potential contaminants associated with those uses; a conceptual model of
the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; and potentially
unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
b) A site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for a
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected,
including those off-site.
c) The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment
referred to in (b) and, based on these, an options appraisal and
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures
required and how they are to be undertaken.
d) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in
order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in

12

(c) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term
monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for
contingency action.
Reason: The Main Investigation Report (17587/MIR June 2019) identified
areas of contamination and concludes that further investigation is required in
areas that were inaccessible and that remediation is likely to be required. This
condition is required to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or
is not put at unacceptable risk from/adversely affected by, unacceptable levels
of water pollution in line with paragraph 183 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
4. Prior to any part of the permitted development being brought into use, a
verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the
approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall
be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The
report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in
accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site
remediation criteria have been met.
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human
health or the water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the
approved verification plan have been met and that remediation of the site is
complete. This is in line with paragraph 183 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
5. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a
remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, is not put at
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water
pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at the
development site. This is in line with paragraph 183 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.
6. No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are
permitted other than with the written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Any proposals for such systems must be supported by an assessment of the
risks to controlled waters. If approved, the development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, is not put at
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water
pollution caused by mobilised contaminants. This is in line with paragraph 183
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

13

7. No construction or demolition work in any phase shall start until a
Construction Management Plan that has due regards to the details contained
in the Best Practise Guidance - The Control of Dust and Emissions from
Construction and Demolition, 2006 (London Authorities), has been submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Demolition and
construction work shall only take place in accordance with the approved
Construction Management Plan which shall include:
a) a programme and phasing of the demolition and construction work,
including roads, landscaping and open space;
b) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material and
plant storage areas used during demolition and construction;
c) the arrangements for the routing/turning of lorries and details for
construction traffic access to the site;
d) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
e) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by demolition
and construction;
f) controls restricting lorry movements so as to avoid The Crescent School
drop-off and pick up times;
g) a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from construction activities (to
include piling);
h) provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the
development during construction period;
i) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition and
construction;
j) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
k) temporary lighting;
l) protection of trees and ecology;
m) noise generating plant;
n) use of cranes in relation to Southampton Airport.
The construction must then be in accordance with the agreed plan for the
duration of the construction period.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the
locality.
8. No development shall start until a detailed method statement for managing
Japanese knotweed has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The method statement shall refer to The Knotweed
Code of Practice [Environment Agency, v3 2013] and the development shall
then accord with the approved method statement.
Reason: To maintain the value of the locality for biodiversity.
9. No construction work shall take place until final construction details for road,
footpaths, cycle ways, the link to the Archers Road backway and on-street
parking, as well as associated street and public open space lighting have
been submitted to and approved in writing by The Local Planning Authority.
The development will be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Street lighting shall be installed and operational prior to occupation of the first

14

dwelling.
Reason: To ensure high quality development and ensure safety to all road
users.
10. No construction work shall take place until plans including cross sections to
show proposed ground levels and their relationship to existing levels both
within the site and on immediately adjoining land have been submitted to and
approved in writing by The Local Planning Authority. The development shall
take place in full accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interest of neighbouring amenity and to ensure that the
development has an acceptable relationship with existing development
11. No development above DPC level shall start until details and samples of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby permitted, to include all walls, roofs, fenestration, window
surrounds, rainwater goods and balcony barriers have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the
amenities of the area and the interest of neighbouring amenities.
12. No building shall be occupied until crime prevention measures for that building
have been installed in accordance with details that have first been submitted
to and approved in writing by The Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interest of reducing crime and the fear of crime within the
development.
13. Prior to occupation of the development the drainage system shall be
constructed in accordance with the Revised Flood Risk Assessment and
Drainage Strategy; ref: D1908/FRA. Management and maintenance details
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
prior to first occupation of the development and written verification by an
appropriate drainage consultant of the scheme’s implementation in
accordance with the approved details shall be provided to the Local Planning
Authority prior to the first occupation of the 100th dwelling unit. The
sustainable drainage scheme shall thereafter be retained, maintained and
managed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and in accordance
with the details approved.
Reason: To ensure that surface water is adequately managed and does not
increase flood risk on site or elsewhere.
14. Details for the long-term maintenance arrangements for the surface water
drainage system shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings. The
submitted details shall include:

15

a. Maintenance schedules for each drainage feature type and ownership; &
b. Details of protection measures.
The development shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the
approved details in throughout the lifetime of the development unless
otherwise agreed in writing with The Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that long term provision of surface water management is
achieved
15. No unit hereby approved shall be occupied until such time as the parking
spaces and other service facilities for that unit, including bin stores, cycle
stores, vehicle turning areas, electric vehicle charging points, garden
boundary treatments and access paths, have been fully provided in
accordance with the approved plans. The parking spaces shall be retained at
all times for residents parking.
Reason: To ensure the parking and other supporting infrastructure is available
for residents of each unit from the time of first occupation.
16. Written verification by an appropriate consultant confirming that the
construction of all unadopted roads, footpaths and cycle paths within the
development is in accordance with the approved plans and details shall be
provided to the Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the
100th dwelling unit.
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided to an appropriate
standard.
17. The development must accord with the arboricultural report reference 1597
dated 07/07/2021. No excavation, demolition or development related works
shall commence until the tree protection measures have been installed as per
the tree protection plan reference 1597-02 rev B. Once installed, no access by
vehicles or placement of goods, chemicals, fuels, soil or other materials shall
take place within the protected area. Tree protection measures shall be
retained in their approved form for the duration of the work and may only be
modified subject to written agreement from the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part
of the amenity of the locality.
18. The Biodiversity Enhancements outlined in the Phase 1 and 2 Bat report by
Lindsay Carrington Ecological Services (December 2020) shall be
implemented in full prior to occupation of the first dwelling hereby permitted.
Reason: To ensure that a biodiversity net gain is achieved site wide in
accordance with paragraph 174 d) of the NPPF and Saved Policy 25.NC
19. No substantive external lighting shall be installed except in accordance with a
lighting strategy that has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the

16

Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the external lighting strategy does not have a
detrimental impact on protected species including commuting and foraging
bats.
20. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling or, in accordance with a timetable to be
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, as built stage SAP data
and as built stage water calculator confirming energy efficiency and the
predicted internal mains water consumption to achieve the following shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: In
respect of energy efficiency, a standard of a site wide 19% improvement of
dwelling emission rate over the target emission rate as set in the 2013
Building Regulations; In respect of water consumption, a maximum predicted
internal mains water consumption of 105 litres/person/day.
Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design across
the site; in line with the guidance set out in the Government's Ministerial
Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local Planning Authorities
should, from the date of its publication, take into account the government's
intentions in the statement and not set conditions with requirements above a
Code level 4 equivalent.
21. No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.
22. No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to
Fridays and 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Public
Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.
23. Prior to the commencement of the construction phase, details of the extent
and type of any piling proposed shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The development must accord with these
approved details. No deviation from these approved details shall occur unless
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.
24. Notwithstanding the submitted information, no development shall take place
above DPC level until a landscaping scheme has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall cover a
specification, species and details for all hard & soft landscaping [including
trees, tree pits, surfacing, soils, boundary treatments and central public open
space] and shall provide details of timings for all landscaping and any future
maintenance which is to be set out in a landscape management plan. The

17

works shall be carried out in full accordance with a timetable that has first
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall take place in full accordance with the approved plans
and to the appropriate British Standard.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to safeguard
the amenities of neighbouring residents.
25. For a period of no less than 5 years after planting, any trees or plants which
are removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of the same
species, size and number as originally approved in the landscaping scheme.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality.
26. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning [General
Permitted Development] Order 2015 [or any order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification], no development permitted by Classes
A or B of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the order shall be carried out without the
prior written consent of The Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the locality and to maintain a good quality
environment.
27. The first and second floor windows on the south elevation of Flat Block A
(Plots 15-20) serving bathrooms and hallways, and any window at first and
second floor level on the east elevation shall either be: obscure glazed to
Pilkingtons level 3 or equivalent with no opening parts less than 1.7 metres
above the floor level of the rooms which they serve; OR have their lower sill
positioned at least 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which they are
installed. Once installed the windows shall be permanently maintained in that
condition.
Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of the adjoining residential
properties.
28. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning [General
Permitted Development] Order 2015 [or any order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification] the sightline splays shown on the
approved internal layout plans shall be kept free of any obstruction exceeding
1.0 metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and shall be subsequently
maintained so thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Note to Applicant:
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(February 2021), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to the
handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a
positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely

18

manner.

Report:
This application has been referred to Committee because it is a Major
Application and because of the site’s planning history.
The Site and its Surroundings
1.

The application site consists of the former site of a Jewson’s builder’s
merchants and neighbouring sites last used for self-storage shipping
containers, which have now been removed. The wider site is occupied mainly
by buildings and hardstanding which were used for varying commercial
purposes.

2.

Immediately to the north lies the Romsey to Eastleigh Railway, with
predominantly two storey 1960s/70s housing beyond. To the east and south
of the site is the recent development of two, three and four storey dwellings
and apartments constructed by Taylor Wimpey on the former bakery site, and
which was essentially Phase I of the wider site’s redevelopment. Beyond this
is the Edwardian New Town area of Eastleigh, consisting of two storey red
brick terrace housing, with the town centre to the south-east. To the west is
Brookwood Cemetery which is separated visually from the site by a mature
and tall line of evergreen trees.

3.

The site is allocated within emerging Local Plan for redevelopment under
Policy E2.
The Proposals

4.

The application is a full detailed application for the construction of 105
dwellings with access from Toynbee Road, together with associated parking,
public open space and landscaping following the demolition of the remaining
buildings on site.

5.

The dwellings proposed consist of the following mix:
•
•
•
•
•

6.

11no. 1 bedroom apartments
47no. 2 bedroom apartments
16no. 2 bedroom houses
27no. 3 bedroom houses
4no. 4 bedroom houses

The application proposes 37 affordable dwellings of which 13 would be 2 and
3 bedroomed shared ownership houses and 24 would be social rented
dwellings including a mix of all of the house and flat sizes listed above. This

19

represents 35% affordable housing of which 65% is social rented housing and
35% shared ownership.
7.

The proposed development expands upon the urban design ideas established
in Phase I including extending the size of the existing open space on Hawkins
Way/Granary Lane and a continuation of the three storey dwellings which face
onto it from all sides to complete the originally envisaged central square. The
existing perimeter blocks to the east would be completed and a new perimeter
block to the north extending to the railway line would include 4No. blocks of
three and four storey apartments to each corner, and two storey terraced
dwellings to the north facing towards the railway line. Further two, three and
four storey blocks of apartments are proposed to the north-east and southwest corners of the site.

8.

The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical
assessments, which have been updated as necessary throughout the course
of the application:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

20

Affordable Housing Statement
Air Quality Assessment
Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Design and Access Statement
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy
Ground Investigation Report
Landscape Strategy and Landscape Management Plan
Nitrogen Budget Calculations
Noise Impact Assessment
Phase 1 & 2 Bat Surveys
Preliminary Ecological Assessment
Public Art Statement
Statement of Community Involvement
Sustainability Report
Topographical Survey
Transport Assessment
Travel Plan

9.

The proposal has been screened out under the Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations 2017 as it is not
Schedule 1 development and is below the threshold for Urban Development
Projects within Schedule 2. The site is not located within a sensitive area for
the purposes of Schedule 3. The development is therefore not an
Environmental Impact Assessment Development and an Environmental
Statement was not required.

10.

Screening under the Habitats Directive is required due to the impact of
wastewater on the Solent and Southampton Water Special Protection Area
(SPA) and Recreation Pressure on the network of designated sites in the New
Forest.

Relevant Planning History
11.

Prior to consent being granted for Phase I of the site’s residential
redevelopment in 2014 (F/14/74873), the site has always been in
industrial/commercial use, most recently as a builder’s merchants, for which
consent was granted in 1985 (Z/04243/002/00).

12.

The other main application of note is F/20/89489, which has already been
discussed above in the preamble to this report.
Planning Applications:
•

F/20/89489 (Same Site) - Construction of 105 dwellings together with
access from Toynbee Road, associated parking public open space and
landscaping following the demolition of existing buildings – Currently at
Appeal

•

F/14/74873 (Adjacent Site) - Erection of 120 dwellings and flats, provision
of public open space, altered access from Toynbee Road, provision of
pedestrian accesses to Laburnum Grove, Loveridge Way and Archers
Road rear access way, parking and landscaping following demolition of
existing buildings. – Permit 24-11-2014

•

Z/04243/002/00 - Use of land and buildings for the storage, manufacture
and distribution of timber products and builder’s merchants materials and
alterations to existing buildings and erection of trade collection centre and
offices and laying out of customer car park – Permit 03-04-1985

•

Z/04243/001/00 - Established Use Application in respect of use of
premises for industrial use, open storage, warehousing, retail sales –
Permit 11-12-1984

•

Z/04243/004/00 - Use of land for open storage with
manufacturing and office accommodation – Refuse 27-01-1986

•

Z/04243/003/00 - Siting of sawdust extraction and burning plant and oil
storage tank – Permit 18-11-1985

ancillary

Representations Received
13.

At the time of writing a total of four representations have been received, all
objecting to the proposals and raising the following points:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Too dense
Insufficient parking provision
Number of flats
Height of buildings
Not in keeping with the character of the locality
Increased traffic

21

•
•
•
14.

Increased pollution
Poor access to site
Strain on existing infrastructure

These representations raised the same issues as those who commented on
the appealed application, which itself received 43 representations – 1 in
Support – 28 Objecting – 14 Comments. A summary of all comments is set
out below:
Location and Design
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Overlooking to neighbouring homes and gardens.
Speed and Quantity of Traffic on Toynbee Road.
Traffic and Safety for School.
Too many houses/overdevelopment.
Insufficient Green Space.
Modern Design out of character.
Impacts to bats within existing buildings.
We should be building on Brownfield sites like this.

Access and Highways
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Will result in additional rat-running through The Crescent to avoid traffic on
Leigh Road.
Transport assessment has not assessed recent developments.
Improvements needed to Toynbee Road and surrounding roads and
footways.
Insufficient parking for development or the school.
Transport Assessment is based on 2013 before Bakers Quarter was
constructed and while Jewson were still open.
Replacement bridge over rail line should be constructed.
20mph zone and traffic calming should be established in Toynbee Road.
Additional pressure on Leigh Road/Toynbee Road Junction.
Existing secondary roads on Bakers Quarter should not be connected.

Air Quality
•

Report fails to acknowledge Air Quality Management Area on Leigh Road.

Sustainability
•

The site should be as environmentally friendly as possible.

Other Matters
•
•
•
•

22

Vivid should manage their properties and charge lower rents.
Anti-Social Behaviour will increase with more people.
Pressure on Healthcare and Schools.
Will new residents contribute to upkeep of open space and roads.

•
•

Broadband is slow and would get slower with additional residents.
Improvements should be made to Archers Road Backway.

Consultation Responses (Summarised)
15.

HCC Highways – No Objection
Confirmation has been given by the developer that they will not be offering the
internal roads for adoption. However, it is recommended that the roads be
constructed to best practice standards and that arrangements for their
management be put in place. As such, HCC would not object to the proposals
subject to receipt of contributions to mitigate for additional traffic movements,
and conditions relating to construction management and protection of junction
sightlines.

16.

HCC Archaeologist – TBC
A response to the current application is still to be received but no objection to
the previous application was raised on archaeological grounds, as there are
no archaeological sites recorded at this location. Furthermore, the site has
been impacted by past development and gravel extraction. Any
archaeological potential has been removed or severely compromised.
Accordingly, no archaeological issues are raised.

17.

HCC Flood and Water Team – TBC
A response to the current application is still to be received but no objection to
the previous application was raised. The re-designed drainage strategy and
additional information sought was provided and addressed concerns
regarding surface water management and local flood risk. Therefore, the
County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority had no objection to the
planning application subject to recommended planning conditions.

18.

HCC Children’s Services – TBC
A response to the current application is still to be received. However, the
following response was given to the original application:

19.

“On closer inspection of the forecast numbers in the local secondary schools,
most notably Toynbee (which remains full) and Crestwood (which has
become much more popular in the last two years) there will be an additional
pressure on places as a result of this development.

20.

Whilst the number of secondary age children generated will be relatively small
(105 dwellings would generate is 4/5 children per year group) there will be
additional demands on the school’s accommodation when the secondary age
children seek a place locally. Secondary schools are more flexible in terms of
small increases in year group sizes, than a primary school would be, but it
isn’t always possible to squeeze them in without some adaptation to areas of
the site, typically circulation and dining. It’s difficult to determine exactly what
those demands/costs might be at this stage but in order to address them I
would like to seek a contribution of £300k from the developer. This figure is
based around 50% of the full cost per place we seek when a formal expansion
is required and therefore, we consider the contribution to be entirely

23

reasonable and in keeping with the Developer Guidance document used in all
discussions regarding new housing.

24

21.

There remains sufficient capacity at The Crescent Primary School, so I am not
seeking a primary contribution.”

22.

Southern Water – No Objection
The submitted drainage strategy plan (D1908-PL400 REV C) is satisfactory to
Southern Water. An approval for the connection to the public sewer should be
submitted under Section 106 of the Water Industry Act.

23.

Natural England – TBC
Comments still to be received.

24.

Environmental Health Officer – TBC
A formal response to the current application and the submitted supporting
information is still to be received. A number of issues were raised during the
course of the earlier application in relation to noise and vibration. A suitable
strategy had been informally agreed with the applicant, although this
information has not yet been submitted as part of this latest application.

25.

In terms of land contamination, the proposed remediation measures were
deemed appropriate, and conditions recommended.

26.

The impact of the development upon local air quality was also assessed and
not deemed to be a concern.

27.

Housing Enabling Officer – TBC
A response to the current application is still to be received. However, no
objection was raised to the previously proposed mix of affordable homes
which reflected the overall provision on the site in terms of size and accorded
with the required tenure split.

28.

Tree Officer – No Objection
As the site is relatively simple from an arboricultural perspective, we only wish
to condition compliance to the submitted report and tree protection plan.

29.

Urban Design and Landscape Team – Comment
As with the previous application, there is no objection in principle. The
perimeter block layout, general height and scale, appearance and materials
are supported. However, there is scope to provide more street trees and
better more integrated landscaping and green infrastructure throughout the
development, including pocket parks. A number of further amendments to the
location of parking spaces, windows, etc. are recommended to improve the
overall scheme, as is the importance of ensuring the central open space is
well designed and properly integrated with that of the Phase I development.
Further opportunities for sustainable drainage and electric vehicle charging
points should be explored.

30.

Ecology Officer – Comment (Further Information Required)
Amendments to the Landscape Management Plan are required to improve the
variety of plants which would attract pollinators and to improve biodiversity.
The use of herbicides is not supported. However, the inclusion of bat and bird
boxes/bricks and hedgehog holes in boundary fences is welcomed but should
be included within the landscape management proposals for residents.

31.

Proposed SuDs should include three forms of naturalised filtration, some of
which could be integrated within the site’s landscape proposals. However,
further information on potential ground water impacts is required before any
drainage scheme can be finalised.

32.

Mitigation for recreational disturbance to the Solent SPA will also be required.

33.

Hampshire Swifts – Comment
Integration of Swift bricks is very easy to include into routine building practices
and results in a permanent, discrete, maintenance-free biodiversity enhancer
which will provide much-needed breeding spaces for declining species of
birds.

34.

Direct Services – No Objection
This appears a significant development and it is important the supplementary
planning document is followed.

35.

South West Hants CCG – No Objection
Whilst it is recognised that not all of the occupants of the proposed
development will be new to the area, we make the health care planning
assumption that this application will generate additional residents. The
resulting growth in local population will inevitably seek registration with a local
GP surgery and place additional pressure on existing NHS services in
primary, community and secondary care settings. Our estimate of the level of
additional demand does not, in our view, warrant the commissioning of an
additional GP surgery. However, additional capacity within existing premises
will be required. The CCG considers that the application should be required to
make an appropriate financial contribution to the capital investment that the
NHS will make in this regard.

36.

Southampton Airport – TBC
A response to the current application is still to be received. However, the
following response was given to the original application:

37.

‘The proposed development has been examined from an aerodrome
safeguarding perspective and could conflict with safeguarding criteria unless
any planning permission granted is subject to conditions relating to aerodrome
safeguarding.’

38.

Network Rail – No Objection
No objection subject to developer engaging with Network Rail to ensure
construction works can be undertaken without risk to the operation al railway.

25

Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site
•
•
•
•
•

Within Built-up Area Boundary
Within Established Residential Area
Existing Employment Area
Within HRA Screening Area
Allocated for Housing in Emerging Local Plan.

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies
39.

At the current time the Development Plan for the Borough comprises the
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the Hampshire
Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013).
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011)

40.

The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 was adopted in May
2006. In November 2008, the Council submitted a list of proposed Saved
Policies to the Secretary of State with a request that they be saved until they
could be replaced by a new Local Development Framework. The following
policies were Saved and are considered to be of relevance to the
development proposals:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

26

25.NC (Promotion of biodiversity)
26.NC (Protection of wildlife network)
28.ES (Waste collection and storage)
30.ES (Noise Sensitive Development)
31.ES Noise Attenuation)
32.ES (Pollution control)
33.ES (Air Quality)
34.ES (Reduction of greenhouse gases/ Sustainable construction)
35.ES (Contaminated Land)
36.ES (Lighting design)
37.ES (Energy efficiency)
45.ES (Sustainable drainage)
59.BE (Design criteria)
60.BE (Road and rail corridors)
66.BE (Information and communications technology)
72.H (Density)
73.H (Housing Mix)
74.H (Affordable Housing)
100.T (Transport criteria)
102.T (New accesses)
104.T (Off-highway parking)
118.E (Redevelopment of Existing Employment Sites)
119.E (Redevelopment of Sites Close to Eastleigh Town Centre)
122.E (Development North of Grove Road/Toynbee Road)
147.OS (Public Open Space)

•
•

190.IN (Infrastructure)
191.IN (Developers Contributions).

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
41.

The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination
in July 2014, but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound. While this has not been
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this
application.
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036

42.

The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 was submitted by the Council to
the Planning Inspectorate on 31st October 2018 with hearings in public having
commenced in November 2019 and concluded in early 2020. The Council
subsequently received the Inspector’s feedback and recommended action
points on the plan in April and May 2020. On 25th June 2020, the Council’s
Cabinet resolved to progress the examination on the basis of the main
modifications outlined in the Inspector’s letter and action points and/or any
other main modifications which may be necessary.

43.

The Council’s Planning Policy Team subsequently prepared further evidence
and drafted the main modifications in response to each of the Inspector’s
letters and points and the Inspector has also held an additional hearing in
January 2021 in relation to Mercury Marina. Following on from this, the
Inspector has now finalised the main modifications for public consultation and
the Council has also prepared modifications to the policies map and proposed
additional modifications. A report of the Planning Policy Senior Specialist was
considered at Cabinet and Full Council on 27th May which recommended
approval of the modifications proposed for public consultation.

44.

Consultation on the Main Modifications took place between 9th June and 21st
July. Adoption of the plan is anticipated early 2022. It is considered that
overall considerable weight can be attributed to it. The most relevant policies
are:
Strategic Policies:
•
•
•
•
•
•

S1 (Sustainable Development)
S2 (Promotion of New Development)
S3 (Housing Locations)
S10 (Green Infrastructure)
S11 (Community Infrastructure)
S12 (Transport Infrastructure)

27

Development Management Policies:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

DM1 (General Development Criteria)
DM2 (Environmentally Sustainable Development)
DM3 (Adapting to Climate Change)
DM5 (Managing Flood Risk)
DM5 (Managing flood risk)
DM6 (Sustainable Surface Water Management and Watercourse
Management)
DM8 (Pollution)
DM9 (Public Utilities and Communications)
DM10 (Water and Wastewater)
DM11 (Nature Conservation)
DM13 (Transport)
DM14 (Car Parking)
DM15 Safeguarding Existing Employment Sites)
DM23 (Residential Development in Urban Areas)
DM26 (Creating a Mix of Housing)
DM30 (Affordable Housing)
DM31 (Access Standards)
DM32 (Space Standards)
DM35 (Provision of Recreation and Open Space in New Development)
DM38 (Community, Leisure and Cultural Facilities)
DM40 (Funding Infrastructure)

Local Area Policies:
•

E2 (Land at Toynbee Road)

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan
45.

As the site is located outside of a Minerals or Safeguarding area the Minerals
and Waste Plan is not relevant to this proposal.
Supplementary Planning Documents

46.

The relevant documents are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

28

Quality Places (November 2011)
Residential Parking Standards (January 2009)
Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable
Development (March 2009)
Sustainable design and construction changes to residential applications
March 2015
Affordable housing July 2009 and updated May 2016
Planning Obligations (July 2008, updated 2010)
Biodiversity (December 2009)

National Planning Policy Framework
47.

At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the
‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the
determination of planning applications. The National Planning Policy
Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable
development unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

48.

The three identified dimensions of sustainability should be sought jointly:
economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social
(providing housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also
be taken into account, so that development appropriately responds to the
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different
areas.
National Planning Practice Guidance

49.

Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the
consideration and determination of planning applications.
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative
Background

50.

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6)
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local Planning
Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh Borough
Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan
2013 (which is not applicable in this case). The NPPF and the Planning
Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of significant weight.

51.

The relevant policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the relevant
planning policies and the principle of development; the form, layout and
design of that proposed; its impact upon the street scene and character of the
surrounding area; impact upon trees, nature conservation and biodiversity;
environmental sustainability; parking and highway issues; drainage and any
impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties.

29

Principle of Development

30

52.

The site is located within the Urban Edge and close to Eastleigh Town Centre
which is located less than 1km to the south. As a former industrial site Saved
Policies 118.E, 119.E and 122.E apply to the site.

53.

Saved Policy 118.E allows for the redevelopment of existing employment sites
provided: it does not by itself or cumulatively with other changes on the same
site adversely affect the employment base by markedly reducing the potential
choice of employment in the area or by reducing the range and variety of
premises or sites available for employment; or it would result in land use,
amenity or environmental benefits sufficient to outweigh any material harm.

54.

Saved Policy 119.E then considers in more detail the redevelopment of
industrial sites in Eastleigh Town Centre to a mixture of high-density office or
residential mixed uses provided: the site is suitable for such uses in terms of
access and amenity; the employment base of the local area is not markedly
reduced; some wider mix of employment is maintained on the site; and the
proposal conforms to policies 56.BE and 57.BE on Barton Park where
relevant.

55.

It is noted that Saved Policy 119.E requires the retention of employment
within a mix of uses on site. The supporting text of Policy 119.E refers to a
walking distance of 500 to 700 metres from the town centre. The nearest part
of the site is approximately 650 metres walking distance from the closest edge
of the town centre and is separated by existing residential development. It is
considered that notwithstanding the distance, the site is not suitable for town
centre uses such as offices or shops as the site is too separated visually and
by distance. It is also necessary to consider the demand for offices, which are
the most likely town centre use suitable for this site. The demand for such
uses is uncertain but evidence suggest that demand has declined and could
decline further in the short to medium term as a result of the COVID pandemic
and new ways of working. Having regard to this economic backdrop, as well
the primarily residential nature of the surrounding land uses, it is considered
acceptable in principle to have an entirely residential scheme, notwithstanding
the conflict with criterion iii of Saved Policy 119.E.

56.

Emerging Policy E2 allows for the principle of redevelopment of the site and
accepts the principle of a solely residential use, suggesting a total of 64
dwellings. The number of dwellings proposed is significantly in excess of that
proposed by Policy E2. However, given the urban location close to the town
centre, it is considered that a greater number would be acceptable provided
other local plan policy requirements are met, which is in line with NPPF
objectives of securing efficient use of land and significantly boosting delivery
of housing. Detailed considerations are assessed later in this report.

57.

Saved Policy 122.E then provides further criteria in relation to development
north of Laburnum Grove and Toynbee Road and states that development
which gives rise to increased traffic from the industrial sites north of Laburnum
Grove and Toynbee Road and which could cause increased noise or loss of

amenity would not be permitted. The supporting text to this policy highlights
the impact that noise from heavy lorries has on nearby residents and
highlights the benefits of redevelopment for more people intensive uses. It is
important to note therefore that an increase in vehicle movements in itself
would not constitute a reason to refuse the application unless that lead to
increased noise or loss of amenity to local residents.
58.

The adverse impact the existing industrial uses have had in terms of noise
and traffic impacts lends support to the proposed redevelopment of the site for
more suitable purposes. Notwithstanding some limited conflict with Saved
Policy 119.E and Emerging Policy E2, an entirely residential scheme is
considered acceptable given the change of demand for certain town centre
employment uses in the case of the former, and the feasibility studies in
relation to a replacement footbridge in the case of the latter (as discussed in
detail below) a residential redevelopment of the site is considered acceptable
in principle.
Economic Sustainability:

59.

Section 2 of the NPPF, when discussing economic sustainability, seeks to
“help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that
sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the right
time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by
identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure.” The proposal
would result in the provision of open market and affordable housing thereby
supporting the population of Eastleigh, as well as providing employment
during construction.

60.

The loss of the employment uses on site would reduce the employment
potential in the immediate area and would impact on the economic base
within the town centre, which would be considered an economic disbenefit.
However, the policy support for the site’s redevelopment for residential
purposes is noted, as are the short term economic benefits during the
construction process and the introduction of more economic activity within the
town centre from the future occupiers of the properties.

61.

On balance, it is considered that the economic benefits and disbenefits would
overall result in the scheme having a neutral economic contribution to
sustainability.
Social Sustainability:

62.

Chapter 5 of the 2021 NPPF ‘Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes’ states
that, ‘it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come
forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing
requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed
without unnecessary delay’.

63.

The proposal would create a range of tenure types and property sizes,
including apartments and houses, thereby creating a mixed community, and

31

providing homes for a wide variety of the population, including families. The
housing mix responds to the requirements of Policy DM26 and the need for
smaller private market accommodation, with primarily two and three bedroom
units proposed, over half of which are apartments. The site would deliver a
policy compliant level of affordable housing. Units generally meet the
Nationally Described Space Standards and would therefore provide a good
level of internal space for future residents, as well as private external amenity
space. The development also provides additional on-site open space to
extend the existing area of open space on Phase I to the south. On balance, it
is considered that there is a social benefit to the proposed scheme and
therefore it is considered socially sustainable.
Environmental Sustainability:
64.

There are a number of different components to Environmental Sustainability,
including consideration of site-specific planning matters and the impacts of the
development on its surroundings, which are considered below under the
relevant subheadings. The proposal involves the re-use of an urban site in a
highly walkable location close to Eastleigh Town Centre, thereby providing
housing in an area that can reduce car dependence within the borough.

65.

Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan requires development to take
full and proper account of the context of the site including the character and
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials,
layout, design and siting. It also requires: a high standard of landscape
design; have a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclists
and pedestrians; make provision for refuse and cycle storage; and avoid
unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss
of outlook, noise and fumes.
Scale and Density

32

66.

The site is located a short distance beyond what is defined as the edge of
Eastleigh Town Centre in an area which is predominantly residential in
nature. The industrial use of the site is a remnant of its location on the edge
of Eastleigh’s Edwardian ‘New Town’ to the east, an area of low rise but
nonetheless relatively high-density terraces in the grid-iron layout found in
the Victorian part of the town to the south of the town centre. Immediately
to the south is the first phase of redevelopment of this former industrial site
which includes two and three storey terraces, semi-detached and detached
houses. The northern part of the first phase includes a four storey block of
flats, which together with the blocks proposed, will provide a culmination of
development at the end of Toynbee Road.

67.

Further to the south and north is 20th Century development of varying ages
and styles, but which are predominantly suburban in character, in contrast
to the older development within New Town. To the west is Brookwood
Cemetery which is separated from the site by a mature and tall belt of
evergreen trees.

68.

Concerns have been expressed that scale and density of development
proposed is in excess of that found in the immediate area, and that this is a
sign of overdevelopment. It is acknowledged that the development
proposed, being predominantly three storeys in scale and around 52
dwellings per hectare (DpH) is of a higher density and taller than the
majority of the buildings in the immediate vicinity, however, this is not
completely out of context, with buildings of similar height present or under
construction within Eastleigh Town Centre. The provision of a mix of mostly
three and four storey buildings is a natural transition from the first phase of
the redeveloped site and is separated from the two storey development of
Mottisfont Road and Beaulieu Road to the north by the railway line which
provides a physical and visual buffer between the higher density
development closer to the town centre and lower density areas to the north
of the railway line. As such, it is considered that the general scale of
development proposed is not at odds with the current pattern of
development and would complement the character of the wider townscape.

69.

In relation to density, whilst that proposed at 52 DpH does appear to be
relatively high when compared against recent nearby developments –
some of which are set out below – care needs to be taken to not confuse
density with overdevelopment. Density is a fairly arbitrary calculation based
simply on dividing the site area by the number of units proposed. It does
not take into account the nature of those units or other space requirements
of a development. For instance, as in this case, a development consisting
predominantly of flats will be able to accommodate a higher overall density
because flat blocks take up less site area relative to the number of flat units
compared to the same number of dwellinghouses. Equally, simply because
a scheme is low density does not mean that it would not result in
overdevelopment of a site, which is an assessment of how the various
requirements of a development can be accommodated within the physical
limitations of the site and is based on much more than simple density.
o O/13/73698

-

Woodside

Avenue

–

42

DpH

o F/14/74873 – British Bakeries Ltd (Phase I) - 41.3 DpH
o Z/04771/121/00 – Pirelli General, Leigh Road (Pirelli Park) –
Approximately 55 DpH
o F/11/70044 – Prysmian Cables Site (Scirocco Park) – 36.5 DPH
o Z/38613/000/00 Former
Approximately 82 DpH
70.

Causton’s

Site

Loveridge

Way

–

Saved Policy 72.H of the adopted Local Plan expects developments within
close proximity to services, including good public transport, schools and
shops to achieve densities in excess of 50 DpH. Emerging Policy DM23
requires development within the urban areas to achieve minimum densities
of 40 DpH but in areas with good public transport and access to services
developments are expected to achieve higher densities. Overall, therefore

33

the resulting density of that proposed is considered to be acceptable for
this highly sustainable urban location close to the town centre and ensures
efficient use of land as promoted by the NPPF.
Layout and Design

34

71.

The proposed development is intended as a continuation of the first phase
of the development constructed by Taylor Wimpey and granted permission
in 2015. While the appearance of the buildings proposed do vary from the
2015 scheme, the layout and general scale of development continues the
use of perimeter blocks, completing the block to the east of the existing
public open space and enlarges the public open space itself to the north to
provide additional space to cater for the residents of the proposed scheme.
To the north of the enlarged open space is a perimeter block running east
to west adjacent to the railway line, with a pedestrian/cycleway connecting
the northern part of the development to the footbridge over the railway
between Archers Road and Beaulieu Road. A footpath route is shown
through the northern perimeter block and is a feature supported by the
Council’s Urban Design Officer as it promotes walking within and through
the site, providing a desire line through the open space when walking
South through the development to the facilities accessed from Toynbee
Road. The walking route has been through a number of iterations to ensure
that it is attractive visually and to potential users as well as deterring crime.
Final design details can be secured through the recommended landscaping
condition.

72.

The design of the dwellings and flat blocks proposed takes on a more
modern approach to that of Phase I, with simpler window openings and
long vertical windows in place of bay windows. The buildings do however
carry across the form and scale of Phase I, including the strong presence
of front facing gables to the ends of terraces and semi-detached three
storey properties fronting the open space. The three and four storey flat
blocks share form and scale with the existing block in the northern part of
the Phase I scheme.

73.

The blocks of apartments have a good approach to massing which steps
down to three storeys to reduce the massing and scale of the building when
viewed from public vantage points. The blocks share a vertical emphasis to
glazing and are constructed as bookends to the eastern and western sides
of the northern perimeter block. These buildings step down to three storey
to tie in with the height of the houses and are therefore considered to be in
proportion to both the proposed houses within the site and those of the
Phase I development.

74.

The materials palette consists of red brick and grey slate tiles to the roofs,
together with stone effect sills and window surrounds. The detailing, whilst
simple does create visual interest without appearing overly fussy or
detracting from the modern clean design. The use of red brick also assists
in tying the proposed development to that of Phase I which share a very
similar materials palette.

75.

In relation to Saved Policy 60.BE, which requires development along main
transport corridors to be of an appropriate design quality, that proposed
would present a well-designed street scene when viewed from the Romsey
to Eastleigh Railway line. When compared to the existing buildings on site
the proposal would be an improvement in views from this rail corridor.

76.

The east-west block layout provides acoustic screening to garden areas of
properties where mitigation of noise is not otherwise achievable, which is a
positive aspect of the scheme’s layout. The Council’s Urban Design Officer
has requested minor amendments to allow for greater overlooking of the
proposed footpath link to the north east of the site adjacent to flat Block E.
It is recommended that this matter is delegated to officers to resolve.

77.

While there are matters raised by the Ecologist regarding space for a
drainage scheme, the proposed SuDs scheme was acceptable to the Lead
Local Flood Authority and achieves adequate provision of water quality and
drainage for surface water.

78.

The proposed area of Public Open Space within the site measures 0.13
hectares. Ordinarily the council requires individual areas of open space to
be useable and measure at least 0.2 hectares for developments of this
scale. However, this is an extension of the existing open space provided
within the first phase of the Bakers Quarter and when combined results in
an open space of 0.3 hectares to serve both phases. This is considered to
be reasonable and sufficient to serve the needs of residents. However, the
usability of this space will be dependent on how both halves are combined
to form a successful single public open space.

79.

Notwithstanding the above, the total public open space requirement set out
in The Council’s Planning Obligations SPD is 0.55 Hectares. The public
open space proposed is therefore a 75% shortfall on that required for the
site. It is necessary therefore to secure a contribution towards off-site
provision, which given the proximity of other areas of public open space in
the vicinity, such as those at Lawn Road and the Leigh Road Recreation
Ground an off-site contribution is considered to be acceptable.

80.

Subject to amended plans providing greater overlooking to the northeast
corner of the site and the access to the railway footbridge, together with
some minor revisions to parking locations; the scale, density, layout and
design of that proposed is considered appropriate and to have taken full
and proper account of the context of the site including the character of the
locality. The proposal is therefore considered to be compliant with the
requirements of criterion i. of Saved Policy 59.BE and criterion iii. of
Emerging Policy DM1 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016 – 2036).
Landscape

81.

The landscaping for the site is primarily located around the large area of
open space adjacent to the Phase I open space, an area adjacent to the

35

western boundary and the north eastern corner. The remainder of the site
is punctuated by street trees between parking areas, and planting around
shared outdoor spaces for the blocks of flats. An indicative strategy has
been provided; however final details would be reserved by condition.

36

82.

The Council’s Landscape Officer has indicated that some of the main
landscaping areas remain disconnected despite improvements in the most
recent amendments to the scheme. It is acknowledged that less
landscaping is provided than would be present on a greenfield scheme,
however the context of the site is important, street trees are present in the
majority of the site away from the areas of the three aforementioned
landscaped areas and the use of hedging around the blocks of flats softens
the areas of hardstanding such that the level of landscaping is sufficient for
a dense urban site. An indicative landscaping plan has been provided
including of the public open space and it is considered that additional
planting to resolve some elements of the Landscape Officer’s objections
can be resolved through amended plans and planning conditions.

83.

The use of a landscaped corridor through the northern perimeter block
allows the landscaping to connect through the site to the existing
vegetation to the northern boundary which thereon connects to the wider
railway corridor vegetation. The public open space then connects into the
landscaping associated with the first phase of the development. The Urban
Design Officer has suggested further design changes to the walkway
through the northern perimeter block, which can be achieved as part of the
detailed landscaping scheme if necessary.

84.

An important element of the scheme is to integrate the proposed central
open space with that of the existing open space to the south on Phase I.
This currently has planting including trees and shrubs along its northern
boundary with the proposed area of open space. Ideally this planting –
which was always intended to be temporary – would be removed to create
a cohesive area of open space. However, this is out of the control of the
applicant and will require more detailed negotiations to devise a scheme
that is satisfactory and which the Council can be happy will be managed
appropriately. It is therefore proposed to manage the details of the public
open space as part of the section 106 agreement.

85.

A landscape management plan has been provided and the Council’s
Landscape Officer is comfortable with its contents, however the Council’s
Ecologist requires minor changes to ensure that the landscaping
contributes to increased biodiversity on site. These changes can be
secured prior to a decision being issued or by condition if necessary.

86.

Subject to amended plans and conditions, and suitable management
proposals, it has been demonstrated that there is scope to provide a good
level of landscaping throughout the development which is appropriate to
the context of the site.

Access, Parking and Transport Matters
Impact on the Road Network
87.

The application is supported by a Transport Assessment and associated
update note. Concern has been raised through public representations that
the modelling, due to it being conducted during lockdown is
unrepresentative of real traffic impacts. The County Council has assessed
the information provided and is satisfied that the assessment is robust and
sufficient to assess the impacts of the development on the local road
network.

88.

Leigh Road would be the principal route of travel both west and east for
residents of the proposed scheme. The proposal would result in an
increase of 14 vehicle movements in the AM peak and 30 movements in
the PM peak hours. Vehicle flows on the Twyford Road/Romsey Road
roundabout are estimated to result in a maximum of 1.2% on the Romsey
Road arm in the PM Peak and a 1.3% increase in the Leigh Road/
Passfield Avenue junction on the eastbound Leigh Road arm during the PM
peak. In isolation this level of traffic generation is not considered to be
unacceptable, however, the impacts, in combination with other approved
and under construction developments would be severe. Without mitigation
the proposals would therefore be unacceptable. A contribution to mitigate
the impact on the highway is therefore required and can be secured by a
legal agreement. These are likely to be cycle and pedestrian improvements
and/or improvements to the Romsey Road/Twyford Road roundabout and
will be secured via a Section 106 agreement.
Access and Internal Layout

89.

The Applicant has confirmed that the internal roads for the development will
not be offered for adoption. On this basis HCC Highways are satisfied that
the development is acceptable and do not offer an objection subject to
conditions regarding the protection of visibility splays and controls during
construction.

90.

Road widths of 6.0 metres are required for parking spaces perpendicular to
the road. These are achieved within all off-road spaces and within parking
courts. Comments have been received suggesting that Granary Lane
should not be connected to this development on highway safety grounds. It
is not considered that any highway safety issue would arise from the
connection of the proposal through Granary Lane as a secondary access.
Linking the existing and new roads was always intended and is desirable
for sound urban design reasons and to properly integrate the two phases of
the development.
Railway Footbridge

91.

Policy E2 of the Emerging Local Plan seeks a replacement footbridge over
the railway line as the existing bridge is no longer fit for purpose. However,

37

HCC have confirmed that a replacement bridge is not considered feasible
due to the need for disability compliance, space for ramps, cost and impact
on adjacent neighbours to the bridge. Accordingly, contributions towards
the bridge are not considered to be reasonable as there is not a realistic
prospect of the bridge being delivered at this time. There is a degree of
conflict with Policy E2 therefore. However, given the reasons for this
conflict it is considered that this would carry limited weight against the
proposal.
Parking
92.

The proposal provides allocated parking for all dwellings. Saved Policy
104.T requires development to adhere to The Council’s Residential
Standards SPD which ordinarily requires 2 spaces for one, two and three
bedroomed units and 3 spaces for four bedroomed units. However, the
SPD does acknowledge in paragraph 8.1 that Eastleigh Town Centre and
the surrounding area has lower levels of car ownership and better public
transport provision than the majority of the Borough. Indeed, the site is
between a 10 and 15 minute walk to the bus station, train station, and the
facilities within the town centre. It is therefore considered that a reduced
parking standard is justified and desirable to reduce the amount of the site
taken up by car parking.

93.

The development proposes 1 space per one and two bedroomed flat, and 2
spaces per two, three and four bedroom house. Some representations
have been received that suggest insufficient parking is proposed. Given the
sustainable location of the site and availability of non-car modes of
transport in the local vicinity, parking provision is considered reasonable
and would not place unacceptable pressure on local roads. The Council’s
Urban Design Officer has suggested that restrictions should be applied to
the internal roads to prevent informal parking for users of the town centre,
however, as the roads are not being offered for adoption it is not possible to
enforce a Traffic Regulation Order. Notwithstanding, the roads are
designed such that there are limited opportunities for informal parking due
to the curves in the road and the position of driveway accesses, as well as
the fact that private parking enforcement could be imposed by the
management company if necessary.
Noise, Air Quality and Land Contamination
Noise

38

94.

The principal noise source for the development is the Romsey to Eastleigh
railway line. The Applicant’s noise assessment shows that facades along
the northern boundary of the site would be subject to high noise and
vibration levels due to use of the railway line, which sometimes takes place
at night.

95.

Noise levels during daytime hours are considered to be in a medium noise
risk category with high-risk categories outlined at night. The noise

assessment shows that the number of instances of noise events is low.
Government Noise Policy requires that impacts should be reduced as far
as possible before mitigation is used. The Council’s Environmental Health
Officer has stated that internal layouts should be revisited to avoid sensitive
rooms being subjected to high noise levels. It is common practice to
position non-habitable rooms such as circulation spaces and bathrooms
facing facades with high noise levels.
96.

In the case of the north facing houses there is limited scope to position
rooms other than bedrooms facing towards the railway line, however it is
considered that further discussions should take place to ensure that
impacts are reduced as far as possible before mitigation such as
Mechanical Ventilation and non-opening windows are utilised. It is
recommended that this matter is delegated to officers to resolve in
consultation with The Council’s Environmental Health team.
Air Quality

97.

The Council’s Environmental Health Team have highlighted that there
would be additional vehicle movements through the Eastleigh Air Quality
Management Area. There is also concern that the assessment has been
based on the potential use of the site rather than current usage. Whilst
noting the Environmental Heath Team’s concern this is considered to be an
appropriate method of assessment as the alternative to approving the
development is likely to be the resumed use of the site for industrial usage.

98.

The applicant’s Air Quality Assessment proposes the use of electric
vehicles and low Nox boilers which is welcomed. The Environmental Health
team supports this and has additionally requested a £100 per dwelling
contribution which would be secured via S106 agreement, The
Environmental Health Team will confirm the project for the contributions to
be spent on.

99.

With mitigation in place the proposal is not considered to have an
unacceptable impact on local air quality or worsen compliance with the
AQMA targets.
Contaminated Land

100. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer and the Environment Agency
have both raised matters relating to the former use of the land for industrial
purposes, and in the case of the latter, the impact on the secondary aquifer
beneath the site. In order to protect public health both consultees require
conditions to ensure that no contamination is disturbed into the water
environment or wider environment.
Ecology and Trees
101. The Council’s Ecologist has highlighted that the biodiversity enhancements
proposed are suitable and should be conditioned as part of any planning

39

approval. The incorporation of a swift brick into each dwelling, as
suggested by Hampshire Swifts is considered to be a valuable addition to
biodiversity enhancement and is also conditioned.
102. None of the site lies within designated flood zone and a comprehensive
Sustainable Drainage Scheme (SuDs) is proposed which provides stages
of filtration to protect water quality and ensures that run-off from the site
does not exceed existing levels. Concern has been raised by The Council’s
Ecologist regarding the capacity of the drainage scheme the risk of
contamination
and
the
absence
of
above
ground
SuDs
infrastructure/natural filtration. This is acknowledged, and as a major
development there is some conflict with emerging Policy DM11. However,
as an urban regeneration site with limited space there are competing
interests between the drainage aspirations of DM11 and the desire to
increase densities in highly sustainable locations as required by policy
DM23. On balance it is considered that the continued use of infiltration
where possible and continued use of the surface water sewer where
infiltration is not possible is acceptable and an improvement on the current
situation.
103. The site is located within 13.8km of the New Forest designated sites.
Research conducted by footprint Ecology in 2018 suggests that
development within this radius is likely, in combination with development in
the wider region, to have a significant adverse effect on the notifiable
species for which these sites are designated. It is noted that Eastleigh
Borough has a number of existing alternatives for high impact activities
such as dog walking including Itchen Valley Country Park, Lakeside
Country Park and Royal Victoria Country Park. Eastleigh is also bringing
forward additional recreational space including Bursledon Country Park.
Given the scale of the scheme it is important to ensure that bespoke
mitigation is secured to address the additional recreational pressure placed
on the New Forest designated sites. The applicant has committed to paying
a contribution towards works to improve public access to Home Wood,
west of Eastleigh and the New North Stoneham Development. These would
provide nearby locations to the development that would serve as an
alternative for dog walking and other high impact activities, such that the
development would mitigate its recreational impact on the New Forest and
thereby would not result in a significant adverse effect on any of the New
Forest designated sites.
104. The site falls outside the 5.6km buffer zone for the Solent Special Policy
Area. A contribution is therefore not required to mitigate increased
recreational pressure resulting from the development.
Nutrient Neutrality
105. It is proposed to address foul sewerage through connection to the main
sewerage network. The proposal will therefore add additional foul water to
the wastewater treatment network. The issue of new development

40

achieving ‘Nutrient Neutrality’ is a matter that the Local Planning Authority
is required to address.
106. The water environment within the Solent region is one of the most
important for wildlife in the United Kingdom. The Solent water environment
is internationally important for its wildlife and is protected under the Water
Environment Regulations and the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations as well as national protection for many parts of the coastline
and their sea. There are high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus input into
this water environment with sound evidence that these nutrients are
causing eutrophication at the designated sites (Solent & Southampton
Water Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site and the Solent
Maritime Special Area of Conservation (SAC)). These nutrient inputs are
currently caused mostly by wastewater from existing housing and
agricultural sources. The resulting dense mats of green algae are impacting
on the Solent’s protected habitats and bird species.
107. There is the potential for future housing developments (which involve a net
increase in dwellings) across the Solent region to further exacerbate these
impacts and thereby create a risk to the potential future conservation status
of the Solent Complex and the features for which it is designated, therefore
acting against the stated conservation objectives of the European sites.
108. Natural England have advised that there is currently uncertainty over
whether mitigation will be required when delivering new residential
development to address the existing levels of nitrogen and phosphorus
input to the water environment. In light of this, and to provide confidence
that the development will be deliverable, it is Natural England’s advice that
proposed residential developments achieve nutrient neutrality. To this end,
Natural England have published methodology to calculate nitrate levels and
produce a ‘nutrient budget’ regarding the existing and predicted levels of
nitrates leaching into the water environment. This budget should be able to
demonstrate no increase in nutrients, known as “nutrient neutrality”. Where
an increase in nutrient levels is expected, Natural England advise
mitigation should be provided to offset this increase and ensure the
protected habitats are protected, prior to issuing a decision. Following
recent case law, the LPA are no longer able to condition mitigation details
be provided post permission being granted.
109. Through S106 obligations, mitigation off-site through the removal of land
from agricultural use would be provided and, as competent authority,
Eastleigh Borough Council has undertaken the Appropriate Assessment on
this basis with the conclusion that the impact can be satisfactorily mitigated,
the applicant has agreed to contribute to The Council’s mitigation scheme
and a financial contribution will be required prior to occupation and secured
via the section 106 agreement.
110. A Habitats Regulations Assessment and Appropriate Assessment has been
completed for the development and Natural England have been consulted
on its contents. For the reasons above the Council as Competent Authority

41

for the purposes of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
(2017) is content that the proposal would not have a significant adverse
impact on any protected species or European Designated Sites.
Sustainability Measures and Climate Change
111. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that all
planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on the
environment. The environmental implications of this application are detailed
throughout this report and proposed mitigations through conditions include
requirements for low energy and water use infrastructure, tree planting and
landscaping, and ecological protection and habitat enhancements.
112. In order to support the use of electric vehicles (EV) in both combating
climate change and mitigating impacts on air quality it is important to
ensure that the infrastructure for electric charging vehicles is available to all
parking spaces but particularly those that are outside of the curtilage of
dwellings where installation of cabling and electricity supplies may be more
complicated following the construction of the development. Officers are
working with the developer to agree an EV charging strategy and for it to be
implemented prior to first occupation. This will form part of the Section 106
discussions.
113. The NPPF (paragraphs 153-158), Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the
Local Plan, and emerging Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the submitted
Local Plan require development to be sustainable in terms of resource use,
climate change and energy use. In March 2015 a Ministerial Statement
announced that the Code for Sustainable Homes would cease to be
applied to new development, although the requirement to achieve the
Code’s levels for energy efficiency and water consumption remains. A
condition requiring the new development to meet these requirements can
reasonably be imposed.
Residential Amenity
114. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan requires proposed
development to avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through
overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, noise and fumes.
Overlooking
115. Views towards existing properties would be possible from the plots along
the southern boundary of the site house plots 1, 10, 11 and flats 15-20. In
the case of the houses, the properties would be side by side with those in
Phase I of the development and would experience views of neighbouring
gardens that are common within urban settings. The rear windows of flats
15-20 contain bathrooms, kitchens and circulation spaces. With the
bathrooms and circulation spaces obscure glazed the remaining views from
the rear of the building would be over the blank side elevation of a flat block
and the car park; a relationship which is considered to be acceptable, and

42

which would not be to the detriment of the new or proposed residents. The
easternmost balconies of plots 15-20 would have the potential to
unacceptably overlook the neighbouring gardens if not adequately
screened. A condition is recommended for balcony design and this would
be sufficient to ensure adequate screening for these balconies.
116. The minimum required rear to rear elevation distances are achieved in the
majority of settings, the exception being between plots 33-40 and 84-93
where the second floor windows are approximately 20 metres apart. For a
second floor relationship it would be expected that a 25 metre distance
should be achieved, however, through the use of blank windows and
rooflights the relationship is mitigated such that on balance it is acceptable.
It is necessary however in this context to remove permitted development
rights to ensure that additional glazing or dormers are not installed.
117. A distance of 23 metres is consistently achieved from east to west towards
the existing properties on Toynbee Road. Notwithstanding the use of
balconies on flats 46-55 this relationship is considered acceptable given the
intervening public realm.
118. In the north-east corner flat Block E has no windows in the nearest side
elevation facing the existing flats to the south within Phase I. The distance
of 19 metres across the public realm between the south facing windows of
block E and the existing flats in Phase I is considered to be acceptable.
119. Some concern has been raised by residents of Mottisfont Road and
Beaulieu Road to the north side of the railway line. However, properties in
Mottisfont Road are angled such that they face largely side on to the
development, meaning views into windows would be at an oblique angle. In
any case the distance between properties is in excess of 35 metres in all
cases, a distance whereby the Quality Places SPD highlights ‘privacy is
achieved by remoteness’. In the case of Beaulieu Road, the properties face
back towards the site but again a distance of 35 metres to rear windows is
achieved and 25 metres to rear gardens. This relationship, notwithstanding
the four storey height of the tallest buildings, is considered to be acceptable
and will not result in any unacceptable level of overlooking or loss of
privacy.
Overshadowing
120. In the majority of cases the buildings proposed lie to the north of the
existing buildings in Phase I meaning there would be no impact from loss of
direct sunlight. The orientation of buildings is also such that there is unlikely
to be an impact from loss of ambient daylight. Elsewhere there is sufficient
distance between buildings such that the level of overshadowing would not
have a significant detrimental impact on properties or their gardens.

43

Residential Gardens
121. Plots 31-45 due to their north facing orientation would ordinarily require
between 12 and 14 metre length gardens, depending on whether they are
two storey (plots 43-45) or three storey (plots 31-40). In the case of plots
34-39 the gardens are both short of the 60% garden to floorspace ratio and
deficient in garden length. However, the Quality Places SPD does highlight
that properties within 100 metres of an area of public open space may be
acceptable with gardens that do not meet the ordinary standard. These
plots are the closest properties to the public open space, and all are well
within 100 metres as allowed for within the Quality Places SPD. It is
therefore considered that a below standard garden provision to these
properties is acceptable in this instance given the context.
122. Plots 2-9, 14, and 85-93 have gardens at approximately 50% compared to
the floor area of the property that they serve, compared to the 60%
required in the Quality Places SPD. However, in an urban location such as
that proposed, a lower standard is considered acceptable, particularly in
the case of plots 6-9 and 14 which are within 100 metres of the central area
of public open space.
123. All apartments are provided with an external seating space in the form of
either a private patio area or balcony. The elevations provided show
visually permeable barriers to the balconies, however experience shows
that these types of barriers tend to not provide the level of privacy that
occupants desire and informal enclosure occurs in practice, to the
detriment of the overall design success of the buildings. It is therefore
proposed to require further details of the balconies including the means of
enclosure to ensure that adequate privacy is provided for occupants at the
outset and to avoid informal enclosure at a later time which would
negatively impact the street scene.
Human Health
124. Human health relating to noise and ground conditions has been considered
and no significant adverse effects are likely subject to appropriate
conditions being attached to any permission granted. The traffic and air
quality impacts or any other possible impacts are also not considered
significantly harmful to human health.
Planning Obligations/Considerations
125. In accordance with the guidance contained within the NPPF, Saved
Policies 74.H, 101.T, 147.OS, 165.TA and 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh
Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policies DM38 and DM40 of the
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, the Council’s
‘Planning Obligations’ SPD, and the requirements of Regulation 122 of the
Community Infrastructure Regulations, there is a requirement for planning
obligations to ensure on and off-site provision for facilities and

44

infrastructure made necessary by the development, and to mitigate against
any increased need/pressure on existing facilities.
126. Contributions / Obligations towards the provision of the following
infrastructure have been agreed or are subject to agreement and would be
secured via a Section 106 agreement, index linked as per the Planning
Obligations SPD and HCC requirements:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.
i.
j.

Transport infrastructure
Community infrastructure projects
New Forest Recreational pressure
Nitrate mitigation
Secondary Education
Health provision
Public open space/play on and off-site
Public Art
Air Quality monitoring
Affordable housing

127. The applicant has offered 35% affordable housing as required by saved
Policy 74.H; although the Council’s Housing Enabling Officer is still to
confirm if the range and size of properties offered will meet current housing
need in the borough. However, the proposal is a brownfield site which was
previously used for industrial purposes. This can lead to additional
development costs for things such as land decontamination. The
government acknowledges the financial barriers to redevelopment of such
brownfield sites and has introduced a system of ‘Vacant Building Credits’
which allows for a reduction in affordable housing requirements
proportional to the floorspace of the buildings that are to be replaced. If
Vacant Building Credit is accepted there would be a reduction of 35% of
the affordable housing meaning that there would be a requirement for
22.5% affordable housing. This matter remains in discussion with officers,
and it is recommended this matter is delegated to officers.
128. The projects and measures identified for contribution expenditure will
comply with the three tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community
Infrastructure Levy 2010, in that the monies would go towards projects
which are directly related to the development and are fairly and reasonably
related in scale and kind. The contributions would be index-linked to ensure
the contributions rise in line with the costs of providing the identified
projects/measures. The obligations sought are necessary to make the
development acceptable in planning terms and to meet the needs
generated by the new residents and the potential impact on existing
services and facilities.
Other Material Considerations
129. A number of queries have been raised regarding the use of the existing
roads and public open space which are not adopted by the Highway
Authority or Council respectively, and the associated charges that existing

45

residents pay to maintain these. This is a civil matter between the owners
of the existing roads and open space on the first phase of the Bakers
Quarter and any future residents.
The Council’s Five-Year Housing Land Supply
130. Also of note is the latest position on the Government- required 5 year
housing land supply. The published figure for December 2021 confirms that
the Council currently has a 5.9 year supply. The need to deliver additional
dwellings outside of planned sites is thus lessened significantly as a
material consideration and the NPPF “tilted balance” does not apply.
Equalities Implications
131. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality
duty. Section149 states:
•
•
•
•

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to
the need to:
eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct
that is prohibited by or under this Act;
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and
foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

132. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. It
is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications.
Conclusion
133. The application site lies inside the urban edge in a highly accessible and
sustainable location close to Eastleigh town centre. The site has also been
identified as being suitable for redevelopment, including for residential
purposes as part of the current and emerging local plans. As such, that
proposed is acceptable in principle. In terms of the scheme’s specifics, the
proposal meets the requirements of adopted and emerging policy for the
most part, and where conflicts do exist the weight to be given to this conflict
is considered to be outweighed by other policy objectives. It is considered
that as a whole therefore the proposal is in accordance with adopted and
emerging policy and conforms to the NPPF requirements to make best use
of valuable urban land.
134. The range of works, controls and mitigations detailed above would ensure
that the scheme would constitute sustainable development on all three
NPPF counts for which there is a presumption in favour, and accordingly
planning permission is recommended, subject to: the receipt of final
amended plans and satisfactory resolution of all outstanding consultee
responses; the completion of a S106 agreement for terms identified; the

46

recommended conditions; and the completion of the Habitats Regulations
Appropriate Assessment (all delegated to the Executive Head of Planning
and Economy in consultation with the Chair, Vice Chair and Ward Members
to finalise).

47

48

Agenda Item 8
ELAC – Eastleigh Local Area Committee Tuesday 18 January 2022
Application Number:
Case Officer:
Received Date:
Site Address:
Applicant:
Proposal:

F/21/91786
Rebecca Altman
22 October 2021
Land at Villeneuve St Georges Way, Eastleigh, SO50 9SJ
The Hendy Group Ltd
Construction of car dealership (Class Sui Generis),
incorporating a workshop, ancillary offices, associated
parking, access, servicing, landscaping, access and other
associated works.

Recommendation:
To delegate the decision back to the Executive Head of Planning and Economy
in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of Eastleigh Local Area
Committee to GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following
updates and conditions:
i)

the receipt and consideration of outstanding consultation responses
from Southern Water, Southern Gas and Southampton Airport;

ii)

the inclusion of any additional conditions or updated plan numbers
to reflect amendments;

iii)

the applicant entering into a legal agreement to secure the required
planning obligations relating to public art and biodiversity (to be
confirmed);

iv)

receipt of satisfactory information to address water filtration of
surface water drainage to prevent pollution to Monks Brook; and

v)

the receipt and consideration of a response from Natural England in
relation to the Habitats Regulations Assessment Appropriate
Assessment.

CONDITIONS AND REASONS:
1. The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years
from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance
with the following plans numbered:
 PL_001 P2 (Site Location Plan)

49





































PL_002 P2 (Block Plan)
PL_003 P3 (Existing Site Plan Survey)
PL_004 P5 (Proposed Site Plan)
PL_007 P5 (Proposed Ground Floor Plan)
PL_008 P5 (Proposed First Floor Plan)
PL_009 P5 (proposed Second Floor Plan)
PL_023 P2 (Proposed Ground Floor Plan Area Schedule)
PL_024 P2 (Proposed First Floor Plan Area Schedule)
PL_025 P2 (Proposed Second Floor Plan Area Schedule)
PL_010 P3 (Proposed Roof Plan)
PL_011 P3 (Proposed Sections, showrooms and workshop)
PL_012 P4 (Proposed Elevations 1 of 2)
PL_013 P4 (Proposed Elevations 2 of 2)
PL_006 P3 (Proposed Site Elevations)
PL_018 P1 (External Visuals)
PL_019 P1 (Gross External Area, showrooms and workshop)
PL-020 P1 (Gross Internal Area, showrooms and workshop)
PL_026 P1 (Net Internal Area, showrooms and workshop)
PL_022 P1 (Gross External Area, decked car park ground floor)
PL_014 P3 (Proposed Ground Floor, decked car park)
PL_015 P3 (Proposed First Floor, decked car park)
PL_016 P3 (Proposed Sections, decked car park)
PL_017 P3 (Proposed Elevations, decked car park)
PL_027 P1 (Decked Car Park Strategy)
PL_005 P3 (Proposed Site External Materials)
PL_028 P2 (Calculation of Parking Spaces)
EVW-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0002 P3 (Tree Protection and Removal
Plan)
EVW-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0003 P3 (Soft Landscape Plan)
EVW-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0006 P1 (Tree Pit Plan and Detail)
EVW-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0001 P3 (Landscape Site Plan)
EVW-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0004 P3 (Top Soils Plan)
EVW-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-SH-L-0001 P3 (Soft Landscape Plants and
Maintenance Schedule)
EVW-AHR-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-0005 P3 (Site Sections)
020.0680.002 B (Swept Path Analysis)
020.0680.003 A (Visibility Splays at Access Points)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3. No work shall start on site until the following has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
a) Desk Study documenting all the previous and existing land uses of the
site and adjacent land in accordance with national guidance as set out in
Contaminated Land Reports Nos.1 and 2, and BS10175:2011+A2:2017
Investigation of potentially contaminated sites Code of Practice, and,
unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority;

50

b) A site investigation report documenting the ground conditions of the site
and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by
the desk study in accordance with BS10175:2001+A2:2017, and, unless
otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority;
c) A detailed scheme for remedial works and measures to be undertaken to
avoid the risk from contaminants and/or gases when the site is developed
and proposals for future maintenance and monitoring. Such a scheme shall
include nomination of a competent person to oversee the implementation
of the works.
Site investigations are to be undertaken by a competent person and in
accordance with best practice as outlined in BS10175:2011+A2:2017 and
LCRM. Any gas monitoring deemed appropriate is to be in accordance with
best practice as outlined in such documents as BS8576:2013, BS
8485:2015+A1:2019, Claire RB17 and CIRIA C665.
Reason: To ensure that risk from land contamination to the future users of
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors.
4. Before any part of the development is occupied or used, unless otherwise
first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA), a verification
report demonstrating the effectiveness of the remediation works carried out
and a remediation completion certificate confirming that the approved
remediation scheme has been implemented in full shall both have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.
The verification report and remediation completion certificate shall be
submitted in accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a
competent person in accordance with Defra and the Environment Agency’s
‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors.
5. All development shall be stopped immediately in the event that
contamination not previously identified is found to be present on the
development site and details of the contamination shall be reported
immediately in writing to the Local Planning Authority (LPA). Development
shall not re-start on site until the following details have then been submitted
to and approved in writing by the LPA:(a)
a written report of the findings which includes, a description of the
extent, scale and nature of contamination, an assessment of all
potential risks to known receptors, an update of the conceptual site
model (devised in the desktop study), identification of all contaminant
linkages and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA and

51

identified as unnecessary in the written report, an appraisal of
remediation options and proposal of the preferred option(s) identified as
appropriate for the type of contamination found on site; and (unless
otherwise first agreed in writing by the LPA),
(b)
a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks
to human health, buildings and other property and the natural and
historical environment. The scheme should include all works to be
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria,
timetable of works, site management procedures and a verification plan
outlining details of the data to be collected in order to demonstrate the
completion of the remediation works and any arrangements for the
continued monitoring of identified contaminant linkages; and before any
part of the development is occupied or used (unless otherwise first
agreed in writing by the LPA) a verification report demonstrating the
effectiveness of the remediation works carried out and a completion
certificate confirming that the approved remediation scheme has been
implemented in full shall both have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the LPA.
The above site works, details and certification submitted shall be in
accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent
person in accordance with best practice as outlined in
BS10175:2011+A2:2017 and LCRM. Any gas monitoring deemed
appropriate is to be in accordance with best practice as outlined in such
documents as BS8576:2013, BS 8485:2015+A1:2019, Claire RB17 and
CIRIA C665.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors.

6. Development shall not commence until the developer has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with
a written scheme of investigation and recording, which has first been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the archaeological interest of the historic site is
properly safeguarded and recorded.

7. Development shall not commence until a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) covering the following matters has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
 Mechanisms to ensure that there is no pollution of the nearby Monks
Brook;
 A programme of and phasing of construction works;

52








Provision of long term facilities for contractor parking;
Arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works;
Methods of construction works;
Access and egress for plant and machinery;
Protection of pedestrian routes during construction;
Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material,
and plant storage areas;
 Details of the methodology for ensuring dirt is not transferred onto the
highway from the site.
The agreed CEMP shall then be followed in full throughout the course of
construction works.
Reason: To ensure water quality within Monks Brook and into the River
Itchen is preserved and protected species populations are not impacted,
and to ensure that the construction would not adversely affect local
amenity or highway safety.
8. Prior to any works above foundation / slab level, a detailed lighting strategy
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This shall include details of the type and luminance levels of all
external lighting to the building and parking areas. The approved lighting
strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
thereafter retained.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.
9. Prior to any works above foundation / slab level, full details, including
samples, of the materials to be used for the external walls, roofs, doors and
windows of the proposed development, shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved materials.
Reason: To ensure a high quality development in the interest of visual
amenity.
10. a. Prior to any works above foundation / slab level, a detailed scheme for
hard and soft landscaping shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall specify species, density,
planting, size and layout.
b. The approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out in the first
planting season following occupation of the development, or completion of
the development (whichever is sooner), and shall thereafter be maintained
in accordance with the Landscape Maintenance Plan approved under
Condition 15;
c. If within a period of ten years after planting any tree or plant is removed,
dies or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously
damaged, defective or diseased, another tree or plant of the same species
and size as that originally approved shall be planted at the same place,

53

within the next planting season, unless the Local Planning Authority gives
its written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a high quality landscape scheme in the interest of
visual amenity and biodiversity.
11. Prior to any works above foundation / slab level, a boundary treatment plan
indicating the positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatment
to be erected shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The boundary treatment shall be installed in
accordance with the approved details before the development is first
occupied and thereafter retained.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.
12. Prior to the occupation of the building hereby permitted, the following shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: A
report showing how the development meets the relevant essential
requirements in the Eastleigh Borough Council's adopted Environmentally
Sustainable Development Supplementary Planning Document, including: A
BREEAM New Construction Post Construction certificate at 'excellent'
standard. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the relevant essential
requirements of the adopted Environmentally Sustainable Development
Supplementary Planning Document.
13. The drainage system for the site shall be installed in accordance with the
details set out within the Drainage Strategy Statement for Planning
(prepared by Calcinotto, dated 22nd October 2021), and surface water
discharge to the surface water sewer network shall be limited to the
approved discharge rates, unless alternative details are first submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that drainage of the site is properly managed in the
interest of amenity and to prevent flood risk to the site or surrounding area.
14. Prior to occupation and operation of the development hereby permitted,
details for the long term maintenance of the drainage system shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
details shall include:
 Maintenance schedules for each drainage feature type and ownership;
and
 Details of protection measures.
The drainage system shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure long term maintenance of the drainage system to
prevent flood risk to the site and surrounding area.

54

15. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, a Landscape and
habitat Management and Maintenance Plan shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping shall
thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the longevity of the landscaping in the interest of visual
amenity.
16. Visibility splays of 2.4m x 25m shall be provided at the accesses from
Villeneuve St Georges Way and Kornwestheim Way and thereafter
retained. Any landscaping within the visibility splays shall be maintained at
a maximum height of 0.6m.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety.
17. The car parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with the approved
plans before first use of the development hereby permitted, and shall
thereafter be retained for vehicle parking / storage purposes only.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking in the interest of highway safety and
local amenity.
18. No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during
the construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800
Mondays to Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on
Sundays or Bank Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby uses.
19. No piling shall take place unless details of the methods have first been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Piling shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To minimise risks to groundwater.
Note to applicant: The drainage proposal would require discharge of surface
water into an existing surface water sewer. The applicant will need to consult
the asset owner with the intention of reusing existing connections and
undertake any required improvements to the condition of the sewer before any
connection is made.
Note to applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (2021), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve,

55

whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt
with in a timely manner.
Report:
1. This application has been referred to Committee because Eastleigh
Borough Council is the landowner, it is for major development, and is in the
public interest.
Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality
2. The application site lies to the south of Leigh Road, between Villeneuve St
Georges Way to the east and Kornwestheim Way and Fleming Park to the
south. The site was formally the location of Eastleigh Borough Council’s
offices until March 2014. The building was subsequently demolished in
2015 and the site has been vacant since. It is currently bordered by
hoarding and the site itself comprises a mix of gravel hardstanding, grass
and scrub vegetation.
3. To the south of the site is Fleming Park, which comprises open space for
public sport and recreation use, the Places Leisure Centre, and Fleming
Park Bowling Club. The Bowling Club lies close to the south-east side of
the application site and is bordered by high hedging. There is a footpath
that runs alongside the south side of Kornwestheim Way and some mature
trees on the western corner with Villeneuve St Georges Way. To the
south-west is a large area of parkland (Fleming Park Parkland). To the
west of the site, on the opposite side of Villeneuve St Georges Way is a car
showroom and to the east is a group of listed former farm buildings used
as offices. Further to the east is the Holiday Inn. The area to the north of
Leigh Road is characterised by a mix of business uses, with a car
showroom to the north-west, and the Hampshire Fire and Police
Headquarters to the north.
Description of Application
4. Planning permission is sought for the construction of a car dealership, with
associated decked car park, external parking and landscaping. The main
building would be positioned centrally within the site and would be
predominantly two-storey in height, with a three-storey element on the
southern side. The building would provide 4,121.4m2 of floorspace,
comprising a reception area, display vehicles, workshop, valet and storage
on the ground floor, and commercial showroom, offices and staff facilities
on the first floor.
5. To the rear of the main building, on the southern side of the site, there
would be a part single, part two-storey decked car park, providing 94
parking spaces for storage, servicing and staff parking. The external
parking areas would comprise a further 116 parking spaces, comprising
display parking, customer parking and service parking.

56

6. Parking spaces by type:
 Service Parking – 75
 Display / storage parking – 84
 Staff parking – 34
 Customer parking – 17
 Total - 210
7. Access to the site would be via Villeneuve St Georges Way on the west
side of the site, leading to Leigh Road to the north and Kornwestheim Way
to the south. Landscaping would be provided around the site edges,
including a line of trees on both sides of Villeneuve St Georges Way, and
tree planting to the south and east boundaries.
8. During the course of the application, the scheme has been amended to
address comments raised by planning officers and consultees. This
includes amendments to the site layout to incorporate additional
landscaping and amendments to the fenestration and materials for the
elevations of the building.
9. The proposal has been screened out under the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations 2017.
The development does not meet the thresholds set out in the regulations
for Schedule I or II development and is unlikely to have significant effects
on the environment. The proposal is therefore not EIA development.
Relevant Planning History


F/18/83492 – Erection of four storey office block (with car parking at
ground floor), roof plant room, 200 car parking spaces, landscaping and
associated works – permitted 9 October 2018



X/17/80119 – Former Magistrates Court – Variation of Condition 1 to allow
revised site layout – permitted 13 July 2017



F/16/78623 – Former Magistrates Court –Construction of car dealership –
permitted 30 August 2016



O/15/77116 – Former Civic Offices and Magistrates Court – Outline:
construction of car dealership, office space, and fast food takeaways –
Resolution to approve subject to competition of S106 Agreement.

Representations Received
10. Two representations received, objecting on the following grounds:
 Not appropriate site for a car showroom; should be used for
development that benefits the community;
 No need for another car showroom;
 Unattractive design;

57



Lack of staff parking, leading to increased parking pressure on
surrounding roads and increased risk of accidents.

Consultation Responses (summarised)
11. Landscape specialist
12. Concerns raised about the scale and extent of development with limited
opportunity for landscaping, particularly when viewed from Leigh Road and
Fleming Park.
13. Drainage along Villeneive St Georges Way may need to be adjusted to
move away from the trees.
14. Suggestions made to improve hard surface materials and advice given in
relation to soft landscaping and planting species. Landscape Maintenance
Plan requested.
15. Tree Specialist
16. Unfortunate that so many trees have been removed. The only significant
tree within the red line is an Ash tree on the corner opposite Fleming Park.
The plans appear to propose removing even more trees. Note that the
Tree Protection Plan within the Impact Assessment document does not
match the Tree Protection and Removal Plan, which requires clarification.
17. Ecology Specialist
18. No information to demonstrate that SuDs has been considered. As the
nearby Monks Brook is a tributary of the protected waters of the River
Itchen, it is imperative that surface water is properly filtered and clean
before discharge. Further drainage details required.
19. An additional area of vegetation is required to provide biodiversity net gain.
The vegetated strip to the south is not sufficient to replace the scrub,
ruderal and grassland habitat currently on site. Inclusion of green walls
could assist in meeting the biodiversity net gain.
20. Unfortunate that the site has been cleared to ground level. However, the
reptile report concludes that no reptiles were recorded on site.
21. Urban Design Specialist
22. Concern about the proposal for a car showroom on such a visually
prominent site. The development should provide a lot more landscaping
and tree planting to help soften the impact of the hardstanding and car
parking and to improve biodiversity. Particular concern about the proposed
decked car park and visual impact on adjacent Fleming Park, and suggest
that the car park is incorporated as part of the building rather than a
standalone structure. Concern about the poor relationship with the

58

adjacent listed building; east elevation should be enhanced. Design
amendments recommended to south and north elevations.
23. Built Heritage Consultant
24. No objection. In terms of the impact on the adjacent listed former
farmhouse, the scheme is an improvement on the previously approved
office scheme due to a more sympathetic built form and a less pressured
boundary. By having the lowest mono-pitch roof closes to the listed
building and the three-storey element at the rear, the effect will be less
imposing, and the fascia level of the closet element of the new building is
close to that of the adjacent building. The decked car storage is quite low
and an intriguing design.
25. Important that beds of soft landscape adjacent to the boundary with the
listed building are not reduced, and that any trees have sufficient root
spread to avoid damage to existing buildings.
26. Economic Development Specialist
27. Support the proposal. Whilst the jobs that would be created would not be
particularly skilled or aligned with priority sectors, it is recognised that the
site has been unoccupied since 2014 and it would be preferable to see it in
a new use. The previously proposed office use has been proven unviable,
and the proposed car showroom use is consistent with the adjacent site
use. The proposed workshop would provide opportunities for training local
employees including apprentices, and such light engineering skills are in
high demand. The development is predicted to generate around 50 jobs
overall.
28. Hampshire Highways
29. No objection subject to conditions.
30. Access: No highway works are required to existing junctions; junctions with
Villeneuve St Georges Way and Kornwestheim Way are both acceptable in
terms of visibility and movement space. Likely that vehicle transporter
tracking would be undertaken roadside rather than on site, which would not
have a detrimental impact on the private roads.
31. Layout: Layout is acceptable with clearly defined parking areas and
adequate space for turning vehicles, including refuse vehicles. No
pedestrian footways are proposed but this is acceptable given low level of
vehicle movements and likely speeds of vehicles onsite.
32. Parking: Parking layout is acceptable. Inclusion of 3 disabled spaces and
9 electric charging points is welcomed.
33. Trip generation: The trips associated with the proposed development would
be 1 lower than that of the previously permitted office development. No

59

highway contributions or highway improvement works are required but
recommend via condition the submission of a Construction Method
Statement.
34. Hampshire Flood and Water Management
35. No objection subject to conditions to ensure that the drainage system is
implemented and maintained. Surface water runoff is to be managed
through porous paving and an aquacell attenuation tank. This is
acceptable in principle since the underlying geology makes infiltration
unfeasible. The applicant will need to ensure safe connection to the
existing sewer.
36. Environmental Health: Pollution
37. Agree that there would be a small change in emissions on the local
highway network, and the development would have negligible impact on air
quality. Site specific mitigation measures will be necessary during
construction. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) is
required.
38. Noise mitigation measures outlined within the submitted Noise Impact
Assessment are considered appropriate. Construction noise can be
addressed through the CEMP.
39. Environmental Health: Contaminated Land
40. Likely that made ground is present beneath the former building and
hardstanding, presenting possible contamination risk. No objection subject
to conditions requiring a land contamination assessment to be carried out.
41. Eastleigh Ramblers
42. No comments on the application proposals.
43. Southampton Airport
44. No comments received to date. The councillors will be updated at the
committee.
45. Southern Gas
46. No comments received to date. The councillors will be updated at the
committee.
47. Southern Water
48. No comments received to date. The councillors will be updated at the
committee.

60

49. Environment Agency
50. No objection subject to conditions to ensure that risks of contamination are
addressed, and to agree any piling works.
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site






Within Built-up Area Boundary
Within Established Mixed Use Area
Designated Employment Site
Within Site of Archaeological Interest
Affects Setting of Listed Building

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies:

























20.NC (Landscape Improvements)
25.NC (Promotion of biodiversity)
32.ES (Pollution Control)
33.ES (Local Air Quality Management)
34.ES (Energy and Climate Change)
35.ES (Contaminated Land)
36.ES (Lighting)
43.ES (Flooding)
45.ES (Surface Water Drainage)
52.BE (Eastleigh Approach Roads)
58.BE (Urban Greenspace)
59.BE (Promoting Good Design)
60.BE (Road and Rail Corridors)
63.BE (Car Park Design)
100.T (Transport and New Development)
101.T (Transport Contributions)
102.T (Site Access)
103.T (Green Travel Plans)
104.T (Car Parking)
117.E and 118.E (Redevelopment of Employment Sites)
165.TA (Public Art)
168.LB (Archaeological Investigation)
174.LB (Listed Buildings)
191.IN (Provision of Infrastructure)

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
51. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound. While
this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can

61

therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the
determination of this application.
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
52. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 was submitted by the
Council to the Planning Inspectorate on 31st October 2018 with hearings in
public having commenced in November 2019 and concluded in early 2020.
The Council subsequently received the Inspector’s feedback and
recommended action points on the plan in April and May 2020. On 25 June
2020, the Council’s Cabinet resolved to progress the examination on the
basis of the main modifications outlined in the Inspector’s letter and action
points and/or any other main modifications which may be necessary.
53. The Council’s Planning Policy Team subsequently prepared further
evidence and drafted the main modifications in response to each of the
Inspector’s letters and points and the Inspector has also held an additional
hearing in January 2021 in relation to Mercury Marina. Following on from
this, the Inspector has now finalised the main modifications for public
consultation and the Council has also prepared modifications to the
policies map and proposed additional modifications. A report of the
Planning Policy Senior Specialist was considered at Cabinet and Full
Council on 27 May 2021 which recommended approval of the modifications
proposed for public consultation.
54. Consultation on the Main Modifications took place between 9th June and
21st July 2021, and adoption of the plan is anticipated in mid 2022. It is
considered that overall considerable weight can be attributed to it. The
most relevant policies are:
 S1 (Sustainable Development);
 S2 (Approach to New Development);
 S4 (Employment Provision);
 S10 (Green Infrastructure);
 DM1 (General Development Criteria);
 DM2 (Environmentally Sustainable Development);
 DM3 (Adapting to Climate Change);
 DM5 (Managing Flood Risk);
 DM6 (Sustainable Surface Water Management and Watercourse
Management);
 DM8 (Pollution);
 DM10 (Water and Waste Water);
 DM11 (Nature Conservation);
 DM12 (Heritage Assets);
 DM13 (Transport);
 DM14 (Car Parking);
 DM15 (Safeguarding Existing Employment Sites);
 DM40 (Funding Infrastructure);
 E1 (Land at Civic Offices)

62

Supplementary Planning Documents





Quality Places (November 2011);
Environmentally Sustainable Development (March 2009);
Biodiversity (December 2009);
Planning Obligations (July 2008, updated 2010).

National Planning Policy Framework
55. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or
the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as required
by statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of
sustainable development.
National Planning Practice Guidance
56. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the
consideration and determination of planning applications.
Assessment of Proposal
57. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local
planning authority determining an application to do so in accordance with
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
58. As indicated above the Development Plan comprises of the Saved Policies
of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the policies
within the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013) and the
application must be assessed against those that are of relevance to the
proposed development. It is noted that the Minerals and Waste Plan is not
relevant to this proposal.
Principle
59. The application site is an allocated employment site in the Eastleigh
Borough Local Plan 2001-2011. Policies 117.E and 118.E seek to protect
employment sites by supporting redevelopment for employment purposes
and ensuring that any alternative development does not adversely affect
employment provision in the local area. Policy E1 of the emerging Local
Plan also allocates the site as an area for employment redevelopment.
The policy states that the site would be suitable for a range of uses
including offices or other uses providing employment, education, training or
community use. Furthermore, Strategic Policy S1 of the emerging Local
Plan supports development that would help maintain and grow the local
economy of the Borough.

63

60. Whilst the proposal for a car dealership would not fall within the specific
employment uses identified within existing or emerging policies, it is
nevertheless an employment generating use, estimated to generate up to
50 jobs. This would include workshop jobs offering opportunities for
training. Given that the site has been vacant now for a number of years, it
is considered desirable to bring it back into a viable employment
generating use, and the Council’s Economic Development Officer has
offered support for the scheme.
61. The application is supported by a Market Statement, which provides
evidence to justify the current proposal as a replacement for the previously
approved office scheme. The report confirms that the site was extensively
marketed for office development, starting in 2019 and including online
marketing and social media campaigns, onsite signage and provision of
high quality printed material. However, a number of factors have led to
office use no longer being the most viable option for the site. Most notably,
the impact of Covid 19 has led to many office buildings being
underoccupied in recent years due to a greater proportion of home and
flexible working. The report notes that whilst the marketing of the
application site received significant interest, many of the enquiries have
been for smaller sized floorspace than the approved office scheme. The
report also looks at availability of other office space within the borough and
concludes that there is over 100,000sqft of available office space on the
market, which is sufficient to meet current demand (taking account of office
demand and take up in the last 5 years).
62. The applicants have also explained the drivers behind the current proposal,
noting that it would offer the Hendy Group the opportunity to expand an
existing thriving business and make efficient use of land, being located
immediately adjacent to an existing Hendy showroom. The location would
allow the Hendy Group to operate more efficiently across their nearby
sites, reducing travel distances for staff and customers.
63. Overall, it is considered that the proposed car showroom would be an
appropriate use for the site, bringing it back into a viable use and
generating new employment in accordance with policy objectives.
Sustainable Development:
64. Section 2 of the NPPF (2021) states that the purpose of the planning
system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development,
which can be summarised as meeting the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.
65. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has
three overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental (which
are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways).
Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take
local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and

64

opportunities of each area. Each of the three dimensions of sustainable
development is considered below.
Economic Sustainability:
66. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out that the economic objective of
sustainable development is to ‘help build a strong, responsive and
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is
available in the right places and at the right time to support growth,
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating
the provision of infrastructure’.
67. On balance, for the reasons outlined in this report, it is considered that
there is an economic benefit to the proposed scheme, and therefore it is
considered economically sustainable.
Social Sustainability:
68. The NPPF defines social sustainability as the creation of strong, vibrant
and heathy communities, and fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe
spaces. It is considered that the proposal would contribute to the wider
objectives of social sustainability by bringing a vacant site back into a
viable and active use and supporting employment provision within the
Borough.
Environmental Sustainability:
69. There are a number of different components to Environmental
Sustainability, including consideration of site-specific planning matters and
the impacts of the development on its surroundings, which are considered
below under the relevant subheadings.
Design and Appearance:
70. Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take full and
proper account of the context of the site including the character and
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials,
layout, design and siting. Emerging Policy E1 of the Local Plan 20162036 specifically requires any development of the site to achieve a
positive relationship to Fleming Park and Leigh Road, to improve the
setting of the adjacent listed building and have regard to existing trees.
71. The application site lies in a visually prominent location fronting one of
the main routes into Eastleigh town and visible from the publicly
accessible Fleming Park to the south. Any development of this site is
required to achieve a high quality of design, responding to the scale of
surrounding development and having regard to the visual impact on the
adjacent open space and listed buildings.
72. The main showroom building would be located centrally within the site,
with a two level decked car park to the rear. The areas surrounding the
building would be predominantly hard surfaced to provide the required
levels of parking for display vehicles, customers and staff, but the
scheme has incorporated soft landscaping where possible to soften and
enhance its visual appearance.

65

73. The general design approach for the main dealership building is
considered appropriate, reflecting the commercial nature of such a
building but incorporating features of interest including varied height
pitched roofs, extensive areas of glazing similar to that on the adjacent
car showroom, and a glazed feature window on the north-west corner.
The tallest section of the building would be on the southern side, where
the height increases to three-storey. Following comments made by the
Council’s Urban Design Officer, this element of the building has been
amended to incorporate additional fenestration and simplify its form to
enhance its visual appearance when viewed from the south. The
previously bland east elevation of the main building has also been
‘broken up’ with the incorporation of contrasting cladding, and further
glazed fenestration has been added to the north elevation. Precise
details of the proposed materials, including samples, would be
requested by condition.
74. The decked car park would be located on the southern side of the site,
and would extend close to the southern boundary. Whilst the car park
would incorporate two levels of parking, its overall height has been kept
to a minimum. However, it would still be a visually prominent feature in
views from Fleming Park, and the layout plan includes proposals for soft
landscaping and tree planting along the southern boundary and on the
northern side of Fleming Park to soften the visual impact. The car park
would be clad in a decorative metal cladding in a muted colour, which
would further help to reduce its visual prominence.
75. Following the amendments made, the design and appearance of the
proposed buildings are considered to be of sufficient quality to meet the
objectives of the saved and emerging Local Plan policies.
Landscaping and trees:
76. When the site was occupied by the Council Offices, there were
substantial areas of landscaping and tree planting, with a notable green
area on the north-western corner, which provided a visually attractive
entrance to the site. The majority of the former trees and landscaping
have been cleared in recent years, with only one significant tree
remaining on the south-west corner. This tree is proposed to be
retained and has been incorporated into the design of the scheme.
Along with this, the proposal incorporates areas of soft landscaping and
tree planting around the boundaries of the site, and a tree-lined avenue
is proposed to be created along Villeneuve St Georges Way.
77. The applicants have confirmed that the design for the tree lined avenue
has taken account of the position of the below ground drainage culvert,
with root barriers proposed to be installed to prevent damage to the
culvert.
78. During the course of the application, the applicants have responded to
the points raised by the Landscape Officer and have made amendments
to various elements of the proposed landscaping scheme. Key changes
include:

66



Adjustments made to positions of parking spaces to allow sufficient
room for boundary hedge planting;



Changes made to tree and planting species in line with Landscape
Officer suggestions;



Revision to parking layout on north-west side of site to allow space
for additional landscaping and planting of a tree;



Amendments made to type and colour of boundary and surface
treatments.

79. Further information to address landscaping matters is awaited. Subject
to agreement of amended plans, it is considered that a landscape
scheme of a sufficiently high quality could be achieved, to create an
attractive setting for the proposed development and to provide
biodiversity benefits. Conditions would be imposed to ensure that the
agreed landscaping scheme is fully implemented and maintained.
Impact on heritage assets
80. The proposal would affect the setting of a Listed Building and section 66(1)
of the Planning (Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states:
“In considering whether to grant planning permission for development
which affects a Listed Building or its setting, the Local Planning Authority
… shall have regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses”.
81. Where any harm is identified to a heritage asset, paragraphs 200 – 202
of the NPPF require local planning authority’s to weigh the harm against
wider public benefits.
82. The site lies adjacent to a group of three Grade II listed buildings: Home
Farmhouse; Home Farm Granary; and Home Farm Barn. The design of
the proposed building has taken account of the proximity to the listed
buildings, with the height reduced on the eastern side, and the provision
of landscaping along the eastern boundary. Whilst there would be a
taller three-storey element to the car dealership building, this element
would be set further away from the listed farmhouse and would not
appear over-imposing. The Council’s Heritage Consultant has noted
that the former Council Offices created a more imposing and dominating
relationship with the listed buildings and has raised no objection to the
current scheme.
83. In conclusion, it is considered that the setting of the adjacent listed
buildings would be preserved by the proposed development. An
assessment of harm under paragraphs 200 - 202 of the NPPF is
therefore not required in this case.
84. When the previous office development was granted permission on this
site, it was noted that there was the potential for below ground
archaeology and a condition was imposed requiring a written scheme of
archaeological investigation to take place. The same condition would

67

continue to be recommended to ensure that any archaeological impact
is properly considered and mitigated.
Access, Parking and Transport Matters
85. The development would be accessed from Villeneuve St Georges Way
and Kornwestheim Way, with road surfacing improvements made to
ensure a safe environment for cars and pedestrians. Plans showing
vehicle tracking to demonstrate how vehicles would safely turn within
the site have been provided and confirmed to be acceptable, and
appropriate visibility splays would be provided at the accesses. A
condition is recommended to ensure that any landscaping within the
visibility splays is kept below 0.6m in height in order to maintain visibility.
86. The proposal would include 210 parking spaces, comprising a mix of
staff and customer parking, display vehicle parking, storage and service
parking. The majority of the parking would be for display, servicing and
storage, and the applicant has explained that the number of spaces
would ensure that there is sufficient turn around of used car sales to
make the business viable. 3 spaces for disabled parking and 9 electric
vehicle charging points would also be provided. Eastleigh Borough
Council does not have parking standards for non-residential
development, but no objection to the level of parking has been raised by
Hampshire County Council.
87. A number of the parking spaces would be provided within a 2 level
decked car park to the rear of the site. The applicants have provided a
parking strategy plan showing how alternative options were explored for
providing additional parking on existing sites owned by Hendy Ford, but
these options were discounted for operational reasons or due to visual
impact. Having carefully considered the decked car park on the
application site and its reduction in size from that originally tabled,
officers are satisfied that this is necessary to ensure adequate storage
to maintain a viable business.
88. In relation to traffic generation, the Hampshire Highways Officer has
commented that the proposed level of traffic would be similar to that of
the previous permitted office scheme on the site. No requirements for
off-site highway improvements have been identified.
89. Overall, the proposed development is considered acceptable in terms of
access and parking, in accordance with saved and emerging Local Plan
policies.
Noise, Air Quality and Land Contamination:
90. The application is supported by an Air Quality Assessment and Noise
Impact Assessment.
91. In relation to air quality, the Council’s Environmental Health Officer has
concluded that the development would have a negligible impact on air
quality in the area given the small increase in traffic likely to be

68

generated by the proposed development. Measures would be required
to mitigate dust during construction and these can be incorporated into a
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), secured by
condition.
92. With regard to noise, it is not anticipated that any noise generated from
the development would be harmful to local amenity given the ambient
noise levels of road traffic in the area. Noise mitigation during
construction can be controlled through the CEMP.
93. Conditions are also requested in relation to contaminated land, to
ensure that any impacts are fully investigated and mitigated where
required.
Impact on local amenity
94. There are no neighbouring residential properties in close proximity to the
site. The site lies in an area characterised by a mix of uses, including
existing car showrooms and workshops, and based on the details of the
submitted Noise and Air Quality assessments, it is not considered that
the development would generate any significant levels of noise,
disturbance or pollution to the surrounding area beyond that which
already exists.
Drainage and Flood Risk:
95. The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage
Strategy.
96. The Drainage Strategy confirms that surface water runoff from the site
would be managed through porous paving and an aquacell attenuation
tank, and that surface water would be discharged through an existing
surface water sewer connection. The Hampshire Flood Authority has
confirmed that the proposed drainage system is acceptable in principle
as the underlying geology would make infiltration unfeasible.
97. The Council’s Ecologist has requested further information to confirm the
measures included in the drainage system to prevent pollution of the
nearby Monks Brook, which connects to the River Itchen. This further
information is under review and an update will be provided prior to the
Planning Committee.
98. The Hampshire Flood Authority has noted that for connection to the
existing sewer network, agreement will be needed from the sewer asset
owner (understood to be Eastleigh Borough Council), and improvements
may be required prior to making any connection. This is a matter to be
addressed by the applicant, and if there was subsequently a need to
amend the drainage strategy, the recommended planning condition
would allow for any alterations to be submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority.

69

Nature conservation and biodiversity
99. The application site currently comprises a mix of hard surfacing and
vegetation, with approximately 50% of the site area vegetated in July
2021. The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal and Reptile Survey, which confirm no evidence of protected
species on the site and therefore no requirement for mitigation in this
respect.
100. The applicants have submitted a biodiversity net gain calculator,
which indicates that whilst soft landscaping would be incorporated into
the scheme, the development overall would result in a net loss of
biodiversity when compared to its current condition. In accordance with
national policy, all developments should seek to protect and enhance
biodiversity, therefore mitigation is required to address the net loss of
biodiversity from the proposed development. This matter is currently
under negotiation but is likely to require a financial contribution towards
off-site biodiversity enhancements.
101. The proposed drainage system for the site would involve discharge
of surface water through an existing surface water sewer system, which
connects to Monks Brook. Monks Brook is a tributary of the River
Itchen, and without proper filtration of the surface water prior to
discharge, there is the potential that the development would impact
upon the protected waters of the River Itchen through increased
pollution. Further information as to how this matter is being addressed
is currently under review.
102. For the construction phase, information on surface water drainage
and water filtering would be requested as part of the Construction
Environmental Management Plan, which would be secured by condition.
Sustainability Measures and Climate Change:
103. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that
all planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on the
environment. Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the Local Plan, and
emerging Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the emerging Local Plan require
development to be sustainable in terms of resource use, climate change
and energy use. For non-residential developments over 500sqm, a
BREEAM ‘excellent’ score is required.
104. The applicants have submitted a BREEAM pre-assessment report,
which concludes that it should be possible to achieve a score of
BREEAM ‘excellent’. This can be secured by condition and would
ensure that the development meets the objectives of saved and
emerging policies. The proposal also includes the provision of solar
panels to the roof of the building, and the applicants have noted that the
business would be selling electric vehicles, helping to promote more
sustainable car use.

70

Planning obligation /considerations
105. In accordance with the guidance contained within the NPPF, saved and
emerging local plan policies, the Council’s ‘Planning Obligations’ SPD and
the requirements of Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure
Regulations, there is a requirement for developers’ contributions to make
the development acceptable. Contributions / Obligations towards the
provision of the following infrastructure is under negotiation and would be
secured via a Section 106 agreement index linked as per the Planning
Obligations SPD:



Public Art
Environmental Improvements / biodiversity mitigation

106. The projects and measures identified for contribution expenditure will
comply with the 3 tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community
Infrastructure Levy 2010, in that the monies would go towards the projects
which are directly related to the development, and are fairly and reasonably
related in scale and kind to the proposed development. The contributions
would be index-linked to ensure the contributions rise in line with the costs
of providing the identified projects/measures. The obligations sought are
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms and to
meet the needs generated by the new residents and the potential impact
on existing services and facilities.
Other material considerations
Climate Change:
107. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that
all planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on the
environment. The Climate Change and Environmental implications of this
application and their proposed mitigations have been considered.

Equalities Implications:
108. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality
duty. Section149 states: A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:
a. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
b. advance equality of opportunity between persons who
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it;
c. foster good relations between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not share it.

71

109. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. It
is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications.
Conclusion
110. The proposed car dealership would bring a vacant site into a viable use,
providing economic benefits to the local area and supporting an existing
business. Subject to approval of the submitted amendments, the design of
the building and associated landscaping is considered acceptable having
regard to the commercial nature of the use, and its relationship with
surrounding buildings and spaces. The development would preserve the
setting of the adjacent listed buildings and appropriate measures would be
incorporated to address matters relating to drainage, pollution and energy
efficiency. The scheme would include sufficient parking and would not
adversely impact on the local highway network. Subject to conditions and
developer contributions, the development is considered to meet the
requirements of national policy and saved and emerging Local Plan
policies.

72

73

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 18 January 2022
FINANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT AND NEW PARISH COUNCILS
Report of the Local Area Manager

Recommendations
(1)

The formation of the New Parishing Working Group, nominated
representatives and the Terms of Reference are noted;

(2)

£500 is allocated for the Summer Bandstand Programme from the Revenue
Budget;

(3)

£6,000 is allocated for the Energy Centre Facilities Management costs from
the Revenue Reserve;

(4)

£3,000 is allocated for a Christmas Lights Switch-on Event Organiser from the
Revenue Reserve;

(5)

£10,000 is allocated to the Community Grant Fund from the Revenue Reserve;

(6)

£1,500 is allocated to the Youth Grant from the Revenue Reserve;

(7)

£5,200 is allocated to the Velmore Youth Café from the Revenue Reserve; and

(8)

£27,000 is allocated for the 2022 Events programme from the Revenue
Reserve as set out in paragraph 18.

Summary
This report contains recommendations for expenditure from the Committee’s revenue
budget and revenue reserve.
Statutory Powers
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 ie the Local Authority's general power of competence,
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.

Strategic Implications
2.

The recommendations in this report support the Council’s approach to
localism (Local First) by allocating devolved resources to meet local needs.

75

The recommendations align with Corporate Plan objectives of Tackling
Deprivation, Enabling Healthier Lifestyles and Wellbeing, Supporting an
Excellent Environment, and Reinvigorating Town and Local Centres.

New Parish Councils
3.

In February 2021 the Administration Committee and subsequently Council
approved the creation of two new parishes, a new Boyatt Wood Parish
Council and a separate Eastleigh Parish Council.

4.

A Parish Council Working Group has been established, made up
of Councillors from this Committee, Council Officers and an interim Clerk. This
meets regularly to review progress and proposed actions to be taken between
now and the elections in May 2022, in line with the Terms of Reference shown
in Appendix A. Councillors Bourne, Bicknell, Irish, Clarke, Tyson-Payne, Park
and Campbell have been nominated to join the Group.

5.

The Working Group will make representations and recommendations
only. There will be no delegated power to take decisions. Decisions on behalf
of the Parish Councils will be taken by full Council, for example the creation of
a budget and precept setting.

6.

The Working Group has already met on 1st and 25th November to discuss a
list of potential asset transfers and parish precepts for the 2022-23.

7.

It is recommended that the Committee formally notes the formation of the
Working Group, the Terms of Reference and appointment of Councillors.

Bandstand Concerts
8.

The Arts and Culture Team, based at The Point successfully ran the Summer
Bandstand Programme for 2021, at a cost of £1,500. Within this fee they
recruit artists, curate the programme, provide technical staff support for artists
at the venue, lend out this committee’s PA sound system if required and
market the programme. Last year this provided at least one performance
every weekend. With an additional £500 it is anticipated the frequency can
increase to two bands on the weekends where there are no conflicting events.

9.

It is recommended that the Summer Bandstand Programme budget is
increased to an ongoing £2,000 per annum, funded by a £500 re-allocation
from the Committee’s Contingency Fund.

Energy Building Facilities Management
10.

76

The Committee is jointly procuring a three-year Youth Service contract with
two other Local Areas. This is now due to commence in April 2022. Unlike the
current contract, the new service does not include a building supervision
element for the Energy Youth Centre, which included marketing the space to
other youth service providers, co-ordinating room hires, key holding and
induction, regular safety checks and CCTV monitoring. This element of the
service will now be provided by the Council’s Facilities Management Service.
Eastleigh Borough Council

11.

External hires of the building are difficult to predict in light of the Covid 19
pandemic, but based on 2019 room bookings, a budget of £3,000 is deemed
sufficient for a normal year’s service.

12.

It is recommended £6,000 is allocated for this service to cover two full years
from the Energy Centre Reserve Budget, to be reviewed at the end of
2022/23.

Christmas Lights Switch-on Event Organiser
13.

The Christmas Lights Switch-on Event is the most popular event held each
year in the town centre, with over 16,000 people attending in November 2021.

14.

The Local Area Manager has been the event organiser for the past ten years
and the time required for the operational work involved has increased steadily.
It is now recommended that a professional event organiser is hired to manage
this event in order to allow the Local Area Manager to focus on delivering the
Committee’s Strategic priorities.

15.

Based on previous experience with the Committee’s Summer Remembrance
events, a provisional budget estimate of £3,000 is recommended to fund a
one-year trial. It is therefore recommended that £3,000 is allocated for an
event organiser for the 2022 event from the Revenue Reserve.

Community Grants
16.

The £10,000 Local Area Community Grant Fund comprises £5,000 each year
from the on-going Revenue Budget and £5,000 from the Revenue Reserve.
The original £15,000 Reserve allocation comes to an end in 2022/23. A top up
is required for future years and it is therefore recommended that a further
£10,000 is allocated from the Revenue Reserve, with £5,000 each year for
2023/24 and 2024/25.

Youth Grants
17.

The June 2019 meeting approved the allocation of an annual £3,000 youth
grant, with £1,500 funded from the Revenue Budget on an on-going basis and
£1,500 one-off funding from the Revenue Reserve, topped-up on an annual
basis.

18.

It was intended that the grant would be managed by a new Eastleigh Youth
Council. Unfortunately, the Youth Council has been unable to meet due to the
Pandemic and the Youth Grant has therefore not been distributed to date.

19.

It is recommended that the Youth Partnership Co-ordinator now promotes the
£3,000 Youth Grant, with a view to distributing the grant within the current
financial year, and that this be funded from the existing Revenue Budget and
the allocation of £1,500 from the Revenue Reserve.

Eastleigh Borough Council

77

Velmore Youth Café
20.

The Velmore Youth Café provides a safe, supportive drop-in facility for one
day a week, in an area of relative deprivation for a group of young people that
display a high level of need. The annual cost of delivering the session is
£10,200. Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury Parish Council have agreed to fund
half the cost of the service. During 2021/22 the youth service provider was
only able to deliver six months of activity due to the Covid 19 Pandemic,
leading to an underspend of £2,600.

21.

Councillors wish to continue to provide the service and it is therefore
recommended that a further £5,200 is allocated from the Revenue Reserve,
combined with the £2,600 underspend, to provide a total £7,800 funding for a
further 18 months from April 2022.

2022 events programme
22.

Each year the Committee allocates funding for a range of regular events. It is
recommended that these are again funded with an allocation of £27,000 from
the Revenue Reserve as set out below in table below.

23.

In addition, the Lantern Parade planned for October 2021 was cancelled due
to ill-health of the event organiser. Councillors would like to run the event in
2022 and it is recommended that the 2021 allocation is carried forward.
2022 events programme
Eastleigh Mela 2022
Park Sport 2022
Eastleigh Pride 2022
Friday Night Football 2022
Summer Event
Total
Events carried forward from 2021
Lantern Parade 2022

£5,000
£2,000
£1,000
£2,000
£17,000
£27,000

£1,400

Financial Implications
24.

All expenditure within this report can be funded from existing approved
revenue budgets.

Equality and Diversity Implications
25.

78

An Equality Impact Assessment has not been carried out for this report, as the
projects are designed to be inclusive, however, separate further consideration
of the inclusivity and accessibility aspect will be carried out as part of the
event/project delivery.

Eastleigh Borough Council

26.

The events described in this report are designed to appeal to the town’s
diverse population. Each event will be further assessed to maximise the
attendance from those from protected groups.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
27.

The events are also designed to better serve local and nearby residents, with
an accessible, affordable cultural programme, which minimises the need to
travel.

Conclusion
28.

This report recommends the allocation of the Committee’s Revenue and
Revenue Reserve Budgets to provide a programme that helps support the
cultural regeneration for the town and meet the needs of our local residents.
GUY RIDDOCH
LOCAL AREA MANAGER

Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

18 January 2022
Guy Riddoch
02380 683369
guy.riddoch@eastleigh.gov.uk
One

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
One.

Eastleigh Borough Council

79

APPENDIX A
TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR BOYATT WOOD AND EASTLEIGH PARISHING
WORKING GROUP

Title
The name of this working group is Boyatt Wood and Eastleigh Parishing Working
Group. It is a non-decision-making group made up of Members of the Eastleigh
Local Area Committee and officers.

Purpose
The purpose of this Working Group is:





To make recommendations on the new parishes and their parish councils
actively promote the councils in advance of forthcoming elections
To consider and recommend a budget and Precept
To consider and make recommendation to Cabinet for timetable of transfer of
assets. discuss issues, explore options and carry out specific task focussed
activities as defined by the Council.

Roles and Responsibilities
The role of this working group is to consider matters concerning Boyatt Wood Parish
and Eastleigh Parish Councils.
The Working Group will:




Offer advice and guidance (as required)
Identify any opportunities
Read all relevant reports and attend the monthly meetings, and follow up on
assigned actions

Core Membership:
Membership of this Working Group is to be drawn from Councillors and Council
officers. Individuals with specialist skills and expertise may also assist as and when
required.
Membership is to be a minimum of 3 persons, 1 of whom must act as Chair.

80



Councillors - Councillors Bourne, Bicknell, Campbell, Clarke, Irish, Park,
Tyson-Payne - To represent residents of the Local Area and from vesting
date until the date when elected parish councillors take office to act in the
capacity of Parish Councillor



Sponsor – Jo Cassar (Chair) - The sponsor is ultimately accountable for
the activity of the Group



Clerk – Tracy Predeth (Vice-Chair) - Able to advise on the planning
obligations that are in place, that may result in a community building transfer
to EBC, and then on to the Parish. To act as proper officer of each parish

Eastleigh Borough Council

council


Local Area Manager – Guy Riddoch - Can advise on local priorities,
and information



Project Manager – Nicola Treeby



Legal (Solicitor) – Naomi Dabiri/Helen Devereux - Is there to advise on legal
considerations relating to the process, legal resource constraints, and other
elements

Officers to be invited to provide advice:


Lead Asset Manager – Liz Suatt - Is there to advise and offer guidance on
strategic property and land, design of community assets (buildings), asset
transfers and Asset Management resource constraints.



Finance Representative – Andy Smith



Neighbourhood Services representative – Paul Naylor



Elections – Sam Jones

Quorum
The working group can only go ahead with 5 attendees or more and must include the
following in attendance, a minimum of 3 Councillors, the Clerk and Chair. Depending
on the specific agenda items, other functions may be a requirement as well.

Delegated Authority
The working group have no delegated responsibilities or decision-making powers.
The group can offer advice, guidance, and make recommendations to Cabinet
and/or Council in line with Eastleigh Borough Council’s Constitution.

Meetings
The Boyatt Wood and Eastleigh Parish Working Group will meet on a monthly
basis. Agendas and papers will be circulated 5 clear working days ahead of the
scheduled meeting date. Meeting will take place via Office 365 Teams.

Meeting Etiquette
Will follow the rules and code of conduct set out in the Constitution.

Eastleigh Borough Council

81

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 18 January 2022
COMMUNITY GRANTS
Report of the Assistant Local Area Manager on behalf of the
Eastleigh Community Grants Panel

Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that grants be approved as contained in Appendix 1 to this
report.

Summary
The Grants panel recommends that grants be allocated to local organisations operating in
the Eastleigh, Allbrook and Velmore area for 2021/22.
Statutory Powers
S. 1 Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, including
power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.

Strategic Implications
1. The recommendations in this report support the Council’s approach to
localism by allocating devolved resources to meet local needs. The
recommendations align with Corporate Plan objectives of Tackling
Deprivation, Enabling Heathier Lifestyles and Wellbeing, Supporting an
Excellent Environment, Improving Town and Local Centres, Increasing
Provision and Ensuring a more diverse mix of Housing, and Enabling the
Right Skills and Employment mix.

Introduction
2.

This Committee has allocated £13,387 (£3,387 of which was carried over from
the underspend from last financial year) for a community grant budget to fund
grants to local organisations. 10 different grant applications were received
with a total value of £14,152.

3.

The grant panel comprises Councillors Campbell, Park and Bicknell who
represented the 3 local wards of the Local Area Committee and they met to
assess the applications on 6th December 2021.

83

The Panel’s decisions
4.

The applications and Grants Panel decisions can be found at appendix 1. The
Grants Panel sought to ensure the available funding was spread throughout
the three local wards.

5.

The Panel also considered the objectives of the organisations, the numbers
attending; whether they were from the Local Area, the total cost of the project
and whether funding was or could be sought from elsewhere. The applications
were also assessed against the following criteria: Including business plans,
details on how the grant application meets Eastleigh Borough Council’s
priorities (Healthy Communities, Green Borough and Prosperous Place) and
confirmation that the applications were not for day to day running costs.

Financial Implications
6.

The total grant awarded in this report amounts to £7,828 and can be
contained within the approved budget of £13,387.

Risk Assessment
7.

The recommendations made by the Grants Panel do not hold significant risks.
All grant applications are subject to the completion of a detailed application
and supporting documents, including the submission of financial details. A
monitoring form will also be sent out to all successful recipients to ensure the
funds have been spent in line with the approved grant within 12 months of the
award.

Equality and Diversity Implications
The report complies with our policy to ensure that the voluntary and community
sectors are treated fairly and equitably. The Council has had due regard to the
aims of the Equality Act. The recommendations in this report promote equality
of opportunity, in particular for children and young people, children and youth
people with disabilities and disabled people (including mental health) and
older people. As part of the application process, applicants are required to
submit an Equal Opportunities statement.

8.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
The community grants encourage and aim to change residents’ behaviours by
supporting projects which incorporate green initiatives. For example, the 11th
Eastleigh (North Stoneham) Scout Group actively engage and support young
people through various activities including conservation and community work
and learning outdoor skills which help young people connect with nature and
teach them about the great importance and benefits of preserving our
environment for future generations.

84

Eastleigh Borough Council

Conclusion
9.

The recommendations made in this report complement the Council’s
corporate priorities, as well as this Committee’s local priorities. Subject to the
approval of this Committee, the grants will be awarded in February 2022 to
recognise and celebrate the extent of community work being undertaken in
the local area.
SIOBHAN STRAND
ASSISTANT LOCAL AREA MANAGER

Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

23 December 2021
Siobhan Strand
02380 688428
siobhan.strand@eastleigh.gov.uk
1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
10 grant applications were received and are held on file for further inspection.

Eastleigh Borough Council

85

This page is intentionally left blank

Organisation Name

How will grant be spent

Amount applied for

Amount Recommended

Eastleigh Gurkha Nepalese Association

Purchase of deer netting - £650 Ancillary costs of posts, clips and
tethering posts £600 Labour £400 Contingency £150

£1,000.00 On-hold, further information required.

Eastleigh District u3a

New equipment including notice board, two new computers and
printers, laminator

£1,324.00 On-hold, further information required.

ARK Eastleigh

We would like to put this towards our Christmas hamper project.
Many of our families go without on Christmas day. we try to provide
A Christmas hamper for every one of our clients.

£1,000.00

11th Eastleigh (North Stoneham)Scout Group

12 x Tents £2,388 / 2 x dining shelters £178 / 1 x gazebo @ £75 5 x
sets Cooking Utensils £325 / 10 x Silva Compasses £210 / 20 x OS
Maps £199 Pioneering Poles & Ropes team building & STEM
elements of our programme £432 2 x Altar Fires £146 / 6 x Camping
tables £252 / 12 x Camping bench seats £384 6 x Camp Lamps £168
/Evening activities equipment 12 months £456

£1,738.00

Grant conditions/notes

£0.00 Does not meet our current criteria, as this project has
been previously funded for the last 2 years in a row.

£1,738.00

87

88
Age Concern Eastleigh

We need help to relaunch our services after the pandemic forced us
to stop face-to-face service delivery, and because squatters moved
into our closed premises, we need to replace equipment and
resources that were damaged or stolen. Tables/Chairs £700
Defibrillator £1000 Telephones £200 Printer £300 Fire Extinguishers
£300

£2,500.00

MHA Communities Eastleigh

We would like to use the grant to put together Wellbeing packs for
our members in the Central Eastleigh , Allbrook or Velmore areas
who can not easily attend groups , of the 113 members who live in
these areas 58 fall into that category and either do not attend
groups or can not attend groups regularly. These packs would be
given to members on a quarterly basis and would be delivered
alongside our newsletter to encourage the member to remain
active and engaged , each pack will be focused on a different theme
( staying mobile , resilience , healthy eating ect) but would include
elements relating to our groups and activities as well as an activity
book and a DVD of activities and exercises put together by MHA
Communities Hampshire ( the cost of this DVD is not part of the
project costs ) and other things to encourage positive mental and
physical health. Each of these bags will cost approximately £3.50 to
produce so £1000 would allow us to provide all 58 members in the
area with 4 wellbeing packs ( winter 21 , Spring 22 , Summer 22 and
Autumn 22) and also provide the resources to create an additional
13 packs per quarter which if not needed would then allow the
production of a 5th Wellbeing pack to 53 of the members ( covering
the costs of 5 additional packs would easily fall with in my financial
cost planning so a 5th pack could be put together for all members
assuming that the number of members involved stays the same)

£1,000.00

Eastleigh Youth & Community Trust

Our portable hoist has been in use for 7 years, and has been
decommissioned due to wear and tear. We have clients who can
only access Cycles4all through the use of a portable hoist to transfer
on and off the bikes. For clients with mobility impairments,
Ccyles4all provides a lifeline. We need to replace our Molift Hoist to
enable everyone to access our project. The cost to replace the hoist
is £2110. This grant will enable us to support local residents with
mobility impairments for years to come.

£2,110.00

£2,500.00

£0.00 Does not meet our current criteria, as this project has
been previously funded for the last 2 years in a row.

£2,110.00

£1,000.00

£500.00

We are moving to cloud computing (Google Workspace) to make
best use of our financial resources, and ensure that we are all
linked, no matter where we are working from. Due to financial
constraints, our volunteers have been using their own IT equipment
to volunteer helping the public at home. We are seeking funding to
ensure that all of our team have Chromebooks owned by us, so that
we can maintain them at no cost to the volunteers, link up our
systems to maximise our effectiveness and troubleshoot from afar.
Having a machine owned by us provided to them would ensure that
our volunteers feel supported in their role, would make
volunteering easier, and ensure that we can make a smooth
transition to the cloud. The above figure will enable us to purchase
4 chromebooks.

£980.00

£980.00

- venue (hopefully low or free) - band/entertainment - family photo
shoot opportunities - drinks & snacks - craft materials - presents
from Santa - hire of Santa - decorations - prizes for games - gift
wrapping items to run a donation wrapping service.

£1,500.00

Eastleigh Amateur Boxing Club

The grant will be used for our equipment needs. With boxing being
such a physical sport we now have worn equipment such as our
boxing bags. We cannot afford to buy these alone. We are looking
to replace 5 boxing bags at around £250 of a good quality which
would last for many years and give all of our members a safe and
quality session.

Citizens Advice Eastleigh

Eastleigh Community Hub

£14,152.00

£0.00 Very limited information supplied, however the panel
would encourage a grant application next year when
the hub has a clear project, or piece of equipment they
would like to apply for grant funding towards.

£7,828.00

89

This page is intentionally left blank

